
FORM 11-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

(Mark One):

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 [NO FEE REQUIRED].

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998

OR

[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 [NO FEE REQUIRED].

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-14443

A. Full title of the plan and the address of the plan, if different from that of the issuer named below: Gartner Group, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan

B. Name of issuer of the securities held pursuant to the plan and the address of its principal executive office: Gartner Group, Inc., 56 Top Gallant Road, Stamford, CT 06904

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT	1
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: Statement of net assets available for plan benefits as of December 31, 1998 and 1997	2
Statement of changes in net assets available for plan benefits for the year ended December 31, 1998	3
Notes to the financial statements	4
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES: Schedule 1 - Schedule of assets held for investment purposes as of	
December 31, 1998	14
Schedule 2- Schedule of reportable series of transactions for the year ended December 31, 1998	15

To the Participants and Administrator of the Gartner Group, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for plan benefits of the Gartner Group, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan (the "Plan") as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related statements of changes in net assets available for Plan benefits for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and the significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net assets available for Plan benefits as of December 31, 1998 and 1997 and the changes in the net assets available for Plan benefits for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The supplemental schedules of assets held for investment purposes and reportable transactions are presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not required parts of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by the Department of Labor's Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The supplemental schedules of assets held for investment purposes and reportable transactions have been subject to auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ KPMG LLP

May 14, 1999 St. Petersburg, Florida

Statements of Net Assets Available for Plan Benefits

December 31, 1998 and 1997

	1998	1997
Investments, at fair value:		
Gartner Group Stock Fund	\$ 1,225,299	1,171,576
Retirement Money Market Fund:		
Unallocated	23,884	60,539
Allocated	11,185,364	10,353,110
Magellan Fund	26,243,359	16,768,952
Growth Company Fund	20,121,725	14,556,549
Puritan Fund	10,782,818	8,327,138
Equity Income Fund	14,253,677	11,568,807
Intermediate Bond Fund	2,715,986	1,145,601
Overseas Fund	3,127,578	2,154,468
OTC Portfolio Fund	5,692,247	3,444,625
U.S. Equity Index Fund	1,697,777	
Loans to participants	1,600,567	1,568,168
	98,670,281	71,119,533
Employees' contribution receivable	296,361	890,627
Employer's contribution receivable	3,359,390	3,011,948
Total assets	102,326,032	75,022,108
Accrued administrative expenses	24,394	60,539
Net assets available for Plan benefits	\$102,301,638	74,961,569

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Net Assets Available for Plan Benefits

For the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997

	1998	1997
Additions to net assets attributed to: Net appreciation in fair value of investments Interest Dividends	\$ 10,282,295 677,452 4,834,089	5,929,498 720,050 4,033,588
	15,793,836	10,683,136
Employees' contributions Employer's contributions	13,451,774 5,826,843	11,588,354 4,905,962
Total additions	35,072,453	
Deductions from net assets attributed to: Benefits paid to participants Administrative expenses	(7,667,408) (64,976)	(4,975,472) (120,999)
Total deductions	(7,732,384)	(5,096,471)
Increase in net assets available for Plan benefits	27,340,069	22,080,981
Net assets available for Plan benefits: Beginning of year	74,961,569	52,880,588
End of year	\$ 102,301,638	74,961,569

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997

(1) DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN

The following description of the Gartner Group, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan (the "Plan") provides only general information. Participants should refer to the plan agreement for a more complete description of the Plan provisions.

(a) GENERAL

The Plan is a defined contribution plan subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"). The Plan has been amended and restated at various times in order to comply with regulatory guidance, most recently as of October 13, 1998.

The Plan covers substantially all domestic full time employees of Gartner Group, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively the "Company" or "Employer"). Any employee who customarily works at least 20 hours per week (minimum of 1,000 hours per year) and is at least 21 years of age is eligible to participate in the Plan.

(b) ADMINISTRATION

The Plan is administered by the Administrative Committee (the "Plan Committee") which is appointed by the Company's Board of Directors. The Plan Committee is responsible for all administrative aspects of the Plan, including selection of trustees and investment managers, establishment of investment alternatives, determination of benefit eligibility and benefit calculations and interpretation of Plan provisions. The Plan Committee has appointed officers of the Company to act as trustees (the "Trustees") to administer the Plan. Administrative expenses are to be paid by the Plan through the use of participant forfeitures. Any administrative expenses in excess of participant forfeitures will be paid by the Company. For the plan years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, expenses totaled \$108,402 and \$127,429, respectively; the Company paid \$43,426 and \$6,430 of these expenses in 1998 and 1997 respectively.

(c) CONTRIBUTIONS

Participating employees may make annual contributions to the Plan in percentages of not less than 1% or more than 25% of total annual compensation (15% pre-tax, 10% post-tax), as defined in the Plan agreement, subject to Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") limitations.

The Company is required to match pre-tax participant contributions up to a maximum of 2% of a participant's total compensation, or \$2,000, which is 20% of the IRS pre-tax contribution limitation for the year ended December 31, 1998 (\$1,900 in 1997).

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997

The Plan also provides for an additional discretionary match of up to 2% of an employee's annual compensation solely at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors based on the financial results of the Company. This contribution is limited to 20% of the IRS pre-tax contribution limitation.

The Plan also provides for a profit sharing contribution comprised of the following elements:

- Fixed amount -- an amount equal to 1% of a participant's base compensation, subject to an IRS limitation.
- Discretionary amount -- an amount in excess of the fixed amount solely at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors based on the financial results of the Company.

A Company match contribution of \$73,148 and \$187,184, an additional Employer discretionary match contribution of \$2,085,058 and \$1,793,594 and fixed profit sharing contribution of \$1,201,184 and \$1,031,170 have been presented as an Employer contribution receivable in the Plan financial statements as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

(d) PARTICIPANTS ACCOUNTS

7

Separate accounts are maintained for each participant of the Plan through the Fidelity Management Trust Company ("Fidelity"). The participants' accounts are adjusted to reflect contributions and investment earnings such as interest, dividends, and realized and unrealized investment gains and losses as well as reductions for loans and hardship withdrawals.

Cash in the amount of \$23,884 at December 31, 1998 and \$60,539 at December 31, 1997, although a component of the Plan's net assets, is not specifically allocated to participants' accounts. This unallocated cash held by the Plan was primarily the result of participants' forfeitures.

(e) INVESTMENTS

Participants may elect to invest in a variety of specialized investment funds and may make transfers among investment funds at their discretion in whole percentages. The Company's Board of Directors has delegated the responsibility for the management of the Plan assets from the Trustees to Fidelity.

(f) VESTING

Participants are immediately vested in their own contributions and in the Employer's matching contributions. Participants vest in the profit sharing contribution ratably over a five-year period based on date of hire. The date of hire for the employees of acquired companies continues to be their historical date of hire for vesting purposes.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997

(g) LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS

Loans to the participants are permitted, with the Trustees' consent, in accordance with the limits provided by the Internal Revenue Code. Loans bear interest at a rate equal to prime plus 1% which ranged and between 8.75% to 9.25% for loans made during the year ended December 31, 1998 and between 9.25% to 9.5% for loans made during the year ended December 31, 1997. Participants receiving loans from the Plan must execute an interest bearing promissory note in the amount of the loan. The terms of the promissory note require that all participants repay their loans based upon a fixed repayment schedule not to exceed a five-year period, except in the case of a primary residence loan whose repayment period is extended to 15 years. Participant loans are subject to a \$1,000 minimum amount and limited to 50% of a Participant's vested account balance, not to exceed \$50,000.

(h) PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

Benefits are paid upon retirement (on or after age 65), disability, death or termination of employment, and may also be distributed prior to termination of employment upon reaching age 59-1/2 or because of immediate and severe financial needs. Participants may elect to receive their benefits in a lump sum equal to the vested value of their account or in equal installments over a fixed period of time. Participants may also elect to purchase an individual or joint and survivor annuity.

(i) PLAN TERMINATION

Although it has not expressed any intent to do so, the Company reserves the right to fully or partially terminate the Plan at any time by action of the Board of Directors or its designee. In such an event, the interest of all participants will become fully vested in their account balance as of the date of full or partial termination.

- (2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 - (a) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.

(b) VALUATION OF INVESTMENTS

The Plan's investments are valued at fair value based upon market prices quoted for the respective funds.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997

(c) USE OF ESTIMATES

9

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of additions to and deductions from net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(d) RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Plan provides for various investment options. Investment securities are exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market and credit. Due to the risk associated with investment securities and the uncertainty related to changes in the value of such securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in risks in the near term could materially affect participant's account balances and the amounts reported in the statements of net assets available for plan benefits and the statements of changes in net assets available for plan benefits.

(e) INVESTMENT TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED INCOME

Purchases and sales of interests in the investment funds, along with realized gains and losses, are accounted for on the trade date. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are calculated based upon the difference between the net sale proceeds and the quoted market value of the fund shares at the beginning of the year or the purchase date, if later. Unrealized gains and losses on investments held by the Plan at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, are calculated based upon the difference between the quoted market value of fund shares held at the end of the year less their quoted market value at the beginning of the year or acquisition date if acquired during the year. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in net appreciation in fair value of investments in the accompanying statement of changes in net assets available for plan benefits.

Dividend income represents the Plan's share in dividend income of the commingled investment funds in which the Plan participates. Income from other investments is recorded as earned on an accrual basis.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997

(3) INVESTMENTS

Substantially all of the Plan's assets are invested in commingled investment funds managed by Fidelity. A brief description of the funds and investments is as follows:

(a) GARTNER GROUP INC. STOCK FUND

The assets of this fund are substantially invested in Gartner Group Inc. Class A Common Stock. This Fund also maintains interest bearing cash, \$22,549 and \$24,276 at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, to meet liquidity needs from participant withdrawals or transfers.

(b) FIDELITY RETIREMENT MONEY MARKET FUND

Investments are held in a diversified portfolio of domestic and international short term fixed income securities such as corporate commercial paper, certificates of deposit, Treasury notes and bills and bankers acceptances.

(c) OTHER FUNDS

The Magellan, Growth Company, OTC Portfolio and Overseas Funds invest in debt and equity securities of companies of varying sizes with above average growth potential to achieve long-term capital appreciation. The Equity Index Fund seeks to match the total return of the Standard & Poor 500 Index. The Puritan, Equity Income and Intermediate Bond Funds seek current income and capital preservation as well as the potential for capital appreciation by investing in a diversified portfolio of common and preferred stocks and bonds.

A summary of changes in net assets available for Plan benefits segregated by investment fund is presented in Note 5.

Investments exceeding 5% of Plan assets as of either December 31, 1998 and 1997 are summarized as follows:

	1998	1997
Allocated Retirement Money Market Fund	\$ 11,185,364	10,353,110
Magellan Fund	26,243,359	16,768,952
Growth Company Fund	20,121,725	14,556,549
Puritan Fund	10,782,818	8,327,138
Equity Income Fund	14,253,677	11,568,807
OTC Portfolio Fund	5,692,247	3,444,625

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997

(4) PLAN TAX STATUS

The Plan obtained its latest determination letter on July 24, 1995, in which the IRS stated that the Plan, as then designed, was in compliance with the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan has been amended since receiving the determination letter. The Plan administrator believes that the Plan is designed and operated in compliance with the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been included in the Plan's financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997

(5) CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR PLAN BENEFITS

Information regarding changes in net assets available for Plan benefits by participant directed fund is as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998	MONEY	FIDELITY MAGELLAN FUND	FIDELITY GROWTH COMPANY FUND	FIDELITY PURITAN FUND	FIDELITY EQUITY INCOME FUND
Additions to net assets attributed to:					
Investment income:					
Net appreciation in fair value of investments		5,121,964		463,007	
Interest Dividends		30,958		15,654 1,050,346	
Dividends		1,159,469		1,050,346	790,457
	581,639	6,312,391		1,529,007	
Employees' contributions	1,052,508	2,949,266	2,896,364	1,444,217 671,843	2,056,160
Employer's contributions	635,309	1,303,731	1,181,424	671,843	871,134
Loan repayments	105,896	134,924	153,335	67,057	84,591
Total additions		10,700,312	8,451,241	3,712,124	
Deductions from net assets attributed to:					
Benefits paid to participants	1.844.130	1,425,223	1.557.938	816,557	869,073
Loan withdrawals	, ,		, ,	84,097	
Administrative expenses	56,026		8,950		,
Total deductions	1,998,199	1,606,830		900,654	974,200
Interfund transfers	373 , 380	340,387	(1,209,660)	(398,883)	(1,021,080)
Increase in net assets available for Plan benefits	750 , 533			2,412,587	2,618,781
Net assets at the beginning of the year	10,865,793	17,621,237	15,372,513	8,782,649	12,163,053
Net assets at the end of the year			20,850,320	11,195,236	14,781,834

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998	FIDELITY INTERMEDIATE BOND FUND	FIDELITY OVERSEAS FUND	PORTFOLIO	U.S. EQUITY INDEX FUND	ormernere
Additions to net assets attributed to:					
Investment income:					
Net appreciation in fair value of investments			1,306,336	88,412	(578,943)
Interest		10,594			-,
Dividends	114,060	58,960	270,288	7,377	
			1,586,706		(577,293)
Employees' contributions	121 988	881 596	984,118	127 246	632 311
Employee's contributions	163 024	315 155	384,696	80 514	220 013
Loan repayments	6.786	45,780	39,436	2.067	7,186
boun repaymentes					
Total additions	727,107	1,556,184	2,994,956	305,957	282,217
Deductions from net assets attributed to:					
Benefits paid to participants	72 710	206 460	488,309	E 2 4	61 020
Loan withdrawals					
Administrative expenses	50,770	50,403	44,584	263	23,201
Administrative expenses					
Total deductions	112,489	436,863	532,893	799	85,140
Interfund transfers	966,717	(167,202)	(244,155)		(101,832)
Increase in net assets available for Plan benefits	1,581,335	952,119	2,217,908	1,767,486	95,245
Net assets at the beginning of the year	1,241,897	2,371,413	3,714,715		1,260,131
Net assets at the end of the year	2,823,232	3,323,532	5,932,623	1,767,486	1,355,376

(Continued)

1	3	

Year ended December 31, 1998	LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS	
Additions to net assets attributed to: Investment income:		
Net appreciation in fair value of investments Interest Dividends	 	10,282,295 677,452 4,834,089
		15,793,836
Employees' contributions Employer's contributions Loan repayments	 (647,058)	13,451,774 5,826,843
Total additions	(647,058)	35,072,453
Deductions from net assets attributed to: Benefits paid to participants Loan withdrawals Administrative expenses	143,526 (822,983) 	7,667,408 64,976
Total deductions	(679,457)	7,732,384
Interfund transfers		
Increase in net assets available for Plan benefits	32,399	27,340,069
Net assets at the beginning of the year	1,568,168	74,961,569
Net assets at the end of the year	1,600,567	

(Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997	FIDELITY RETIREMENT MONEY MARKET FUND	FIDELITY MAGELLAN FUND	FIDELITY GROWTH COMPANY FUND	FIDELITY PURITAN FUND	FIDELITY EQUITY INCOME FUND
Additions to net assets attributed to: Investment income:					
Net appreciation in fair value of investments Interest	\$ 550,167	2,333,304 29,653	752,169 33,985	804,868 13,926	1,750,797 19,201
Dividends		1,050,679	1,377,098	665,337	596,744
	550,167	3,413,636	2,163,252	1,484,131	2,366,742
Employees' contributions	1,259,050	2,256,929	2,426,656	1,406,570	1,784,561
Employer's contributions	668,952	1,084,243	1,044,126	572,237	710,290
Transfer from other plan, net Loan repayments	71,851 55,733	59,079 72,025	51,681 109,840	15,072 51,301	43,120 90,957
Total additions	2,605,753	6,885,912	 5,795,555	3,529,311	4,995,670
Deductions from net assets attributed to:	050 650	1 007 570	075 620	E46 064	751 742
Benefits paid to participants Loan withdrawals Administrative expenses	958,659 144,258 120,999	1,237,573 198,711	875,630 154,981 	546,064 128,788	751,743 237,670
-					
Total deductions	1,223,916	1,436,284	1,030,611	674,852	989,413
Interfund transfers	(380,835)	(980,181)	(826,528)	(398 , 662)	1,206,460
Increase in net assets available for Plan benefits					
by investment fund	1,001,002	4,469,447	3,938,416	2,455,797	5,212,717
Net assets at the beginning of the year	9,864,791	13,151,790	11,434,097	6,326,852	6,950,336
Net assets at the end of the year	\$ 10,865,793	17,621,237	15,372,513	8,782,649	12,163,053
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997	FIDELITY INTERMEDIATE BOND FUND	FIDELITY OVERSEAS FUND	FIDELITY OTC PORTFOLIO FUND	GARTNER GROUP STOCK FUND	LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS
Additions to net assets attributed to:					
Investment income:	10 362	22 330	(20, 013)	265 681	
Net appreciation in fair value of investments Interest Dividends	10,362 57,310 	32,330 5,912 105,289	(20,013) 8,271 238,441	265,681 1,625 	
	67,672	143,531	226,699	267,306	
Prolowood contributions	252,583			344,440	
Employees' contributions Employer's contributions	252,583 117,752	717,130 265,859	333,814	108,689	
Transfer from other plan, net Loan repayments	 6,885	3,296 17,645	48,207 21,140	 1,836	(427,362)
Total additions	444,892	1,147,461	1,477,989	722,271	(427,362)
Deductions from net assets attributed to:					
Benefits paid to participants Loan withdrawals Administrative expenses	77,156 18,355 	57,481	54,358	28,155 	122,838 (1,022,757)
Total deductions	95,511		284,164	35,910	(899,919)
Interfund transfers	196,261			573 , 770	

-----1,241,897

545,642

696**,**255

1,031,495

1,339,918

2,371,413

1,693,777

2,020,938

3,714,715

1,260,131

--

1,260,131 1,568,168

472,557

1,095,611

Increase in net assets available for Plan benefits by investment fund Net assets at the beginning of the year

Net assets at the end of the year

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997	TOTAL
Additions to net assets attributed to: Investment income:	
Net appreciation in fair value of investments Interest Dividends	5,929,498 720,050 4,033,588
	10,683,136
Employees' contributions Employer's contributions Transfer from other plan, net Loan repayments	11,296,048 4,905,962 292,306
Total additions	27,177,452
Deductions from net assets attributed to: Benefits paid to participants Loan withdrawals Administrative expenses	4,975,472 120,999
Total deductions	5,096,471
Interfund transfers	
Increase in net assets available for Plan benefits by investment fund	22,080,981
Net assets at the beginning of the year	52,880,588
Net assets at the end of the year	74,961,569

Item 27(a) - Schedule of Assets Held for Investment Purposes

December 31, 1998

Description	SHARES	HISTORICAL COST	CURRENT VALUE
Cash		\$ 22,549	\$ 22,549
Fidelity Retirement Money Market Fund* Fidelity Magellan Fund* Fidelity Growth Company Fund* Fidelity Puritan Fund* Fidelity Equity Income Fund* Fidelity Intermediate Bond Fund* Fidelity Overseas Fund* Fidelity OTC Fund* Fidelity U.S. Equity Index Fund*	11,209,248 217,210 394,389 537,260 256,592 264,458 86,925 130,466 38,621		20,121,725 10,782,818 14,253,677 2,715,986 3,127,578
Loans to Plan participants		1,600,567	1,600,567
Gartner Group, Inc. Class A Common Stock**	56 , 600	1,611,234	1,202,750 \$98,670,281

* Party-in-interest -- affiliate of Plan custodian

** Party-in-interest -- Sponsor of the Plan

ITEM 27(d) - SCHEDULE OF REPORTABLE TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended December 31, 1998

Party	PURCHASE PRICE PURCHASES DURING 1998	SALE PRICE PROCEEDS FROM 1998 SALES	COST OF INVESTMENTS SOLD DURING 1998	GAIN/ (LOSS)
Fidelity Retirement Money Market Fund*	\$ 5,903,161	5,107,563	5,107,563	
Fidelity Magellan Fund*	7,044,413	2,691,971	2,239,161	452,810
Fidelity Puritan Fund*	4,062,696	2,070,024	1,786,364	283,660
Fidelity Growth Company Fund*	6,286,112	3,552,220	2,996,651	555 , 569
Fidelity Equity Income Fund*	4,940,718	3,048,969	2,541,637	507 , 332

* Party-in-interest -- affiliate of Plan custodian

SIGNATURES

The Plan. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the trustees (or other persons who administer the employee benefit plan) have duly caused this annual report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

		Gartne	r Group, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan			
Date: June 28	, 1999	By:	/s/ Michael D. Fleisher			
		Name:	Michael D. Fleisher			
		Title:	Committee Chairman, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer Gartner Group, Inc.			
EXHIBITS						
Exhibit Number		Descri	ption of Exhibits			
1*	Independ	ent Aud	itors' Consent, KPMG LLP.			
2*		- ·	Inc. Savings and Investment Plan (As October 13, 1998).			

- -----

* Filed herewith.

Exhibit 1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

The Board of Directors Gartner Group, Inc.:

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-42587) on Form S-8 of Gartner Group, Inc., of our report dated May 14, 1999, relating to the statements of net assets available for plan benefits of the Gartner Group, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the related statements of changes in net assets available for plan benefits for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related supplemental schedules of assets held for investment purposes as of December 31, 1998 and reportable transactions for the year ended December 31, 1998, which report appears in the December 31, 1998 annual report on Form 11-K of the Gartner Group, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan.

/s/ KPMG LLP

St. Petersburg, Florida June 29, 1999

SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN

(As Amended through October 13, 1998)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
Article	1.	Definitions	1
Article	2.	Participation	12
Article	З.	Participants' Contributions	13
Article	4.	Employer Matching Contributions; Employer Contributions	15
Article	5.	Limitations on Contributions	17
Article	6.	Investment Options	20
Article	7.	Withdrawals from Accounts	21
Article	8.	Loans	23
Article	9.	Valuation, allocation and Accounting	24
Article	10.	Vesting	26
Article	11.	Distributions	27
Article	12.	Funding	32
Article	13.	Administration of Plan	33
Article	14.	Management of Trust Fund	35
Article	15.	Benefit Claims Procedure	35
Article	16.	Non-Alienation of Benefits	36
Article	17.	Designation of Beneficiary	36
Article	18.	Amendment	36
Article	19.	Adoption and Withdrawal form Plan by Affiliated Company	37
Article	20.	Termination; Merger, Consolidation or Transfer of Assets	37
Article	21.	Top Heavy Provisions	38
Article	22.	Miscellaneous	40

GARTNER GROUP, INC. RETIREMENT PLAN

Gartner Group, Inc., a corporation, with its principal office at 56 Top Gallant Road, Stamford, Connecticut 06904 amends and restates effective as of October 13, 1998 the savings and investment plan for its employees (which initially become effective as of April 1, 1984, and into which, as of January 1, 1994, the Gartner Group, Inc. Pension Plan was merged), as follows:

Article 1. Definitions

The following definitions and the definitions contained in Section 21.1 apply for purposes of this $\mbox{Plan:}$

1.1 Accounts - a Participant's Before Tax Savings Account, (Employee Contribution Account), After Tax Savings Account, (Voluntary Contribution Account) Employer Matching Account, (Company Matching Account), Employer Account, (Profit Sharing Account), Pension Plan Account, Recharacterized Contribution Account, Rollover Account and Savings and Investment Account.

1.2 Accrued Benefits - the sum of the credit balances in a Participant's Accounts.

1.3 Actual Contribution Percentage - (A) A percentage for a Plan Year determined for each Participant equal to a fraction (for Plan Years beginning after 1988, rounded to the nearest one-hundredth of a percent).

The numerator of the fraction is the sum of the amount of the Participant's Employer Matching Contributions, After Tax Savings Contributions, not taken into account in determining the maximum Average Actual Deferral Percentage for Highly Compensated Employees and Recharacterized Contribution for a Plan Year. The denominator of the fraction is the Participant's Compensation (as defined in paragraph (e) of this definition) for that Plan Year.

(B) The Committee may elect to take into account in computing the numerator of the fraction any or all of the amount of Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions and Qualified Employer Contributions for the Plan Year provided that (1) the Average Actual Deferral Percentage for Highly Compensated Employees satisfies Section 5.3 both (i) by taking into account all Before Tax Savings Contributions and (ii) by taking into account Before Tax Savings Contributions but excluding those Before Tax Savings Contributions taken into account in determining the maximum Average Actual Contribution Percentage for Highly Compensated Employees and (2) those Before Tax Savings Contributions and Qualified Employer Contributions taken into account in determining the maximum Average Actual Compensated Employees are not taken into account for determining the maximum Average Actual Deferral Percentage for Highly Compensated Employees.

(C) For purposes of this definition, in the case of a Highly Compensated Employee who (1) is a Five Percent Owner or is among the ten Highly Compensated Employees with the

greatest Compensation and (2) has a family member (as defined in Section 414(q)(6)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code) who is a Participant, the combined Actual Contribution Percentage for the Highly Compensated Employee and such family members shall be determined by using the combined contributions taken into account under clauses (a) and (b) of this definition and the combined Compensation of the Highly Compensated Employee and such family members.

3

(D) In the case of a Highly Compensated Employee who is eligible to participate in more than one Defined Contribution Plan which permits after tax contributions or includes employer matching contributions, his or her Actual Contribution Percentage shall be determined by treating all such Defined Contribution Plans as one plan.

(E) For purposes of this definition, Compensation shall mean compensation as defined in Section 414(s) of the Internal Revenue Code and shall include any amounts contributed on behalf of an Employee to a cafeteria plan or cash or deferred arrangements and not includible in income under Section 125 or 402(a)(8) of the Internal Revenue Code. A Participant's Compensation while he or she is not eligible to make Before Tax Savings Contributions shall be disregarded.

1.4 Actual Deferral Percentage (A) A percentage for a Plan Year determined for each Participant equal to a fraction (for Plan Years beginning after 1988, rounded to the nearest one-hundredth of a percent). Subject to clause (b) (2) of Section 1.3 (Actual Contribution Percentage), the numerator of the fraction is the amount of the Before Tax Savings Contributions contributed by the Participant during a Plan Year (excluding any contributions returned (i) under Section 5.6 and (ii) in the case of a Participant who is not a Highly Compensated Employee, under Section 3.4). The denominator of the fraction is the Participant's Compensation (as defined in paragraph (e) of this definition) for that Plan Year.

(B) Subject to clause (b)(2) of Section 1.3 (Actual Contribution Percentage), the Committee may take into account in computing the numerator of the fraction any (or all) of a Participant's Qualified Employer Contributions.

(C) For purposes of this definition, in the case of a Highly Compensated Employee who (1) is a Five Percent Owner or among the ten Highly Compensated Employees with the greatest Compensation and (2) has a family member (as defined in Section 414(q)(6)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code) who is a Participant, the combined Actual Deferral Percentage for the Highly Compensated Employee and such family members shall be determined by using the combined contributions taken into account under clauses (a) and (b) of this definition and the combined Compensation of the Highly Compensated Employee and all such family members.

(D) In the case of a Highly Compensated Employee who is eligible to participate in more than one Defined Contribution Plan which permits before tax savings contributions, his or her Actual Deferral Percentage shall be determined by treating all such Defined Contribution Plans as one plan.

(E) For purposes of this definition, Compensation shall mean compensation as defined in Section 414(s) of the Internal Revenue Code and shall include any amounts contributed on behalf of an Employee to a cafeteria plan or cash or deferred arrangements and not includible in income under Section 125 or 402(e) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code. A Participant's

- 3 -

Compensation while he or she is not eligible to make Before Tax Savings Contributions shall be disregarded.

- 4 -

1.5 Affiliated Company - (a) the Company, (b) a member of a controlled group of corporations of which an Employer is a member, (c) an unincorporated trade or business which is under common control with an Employer as determined in accordance with Section 414(c) of the Internal Revenue Code or (d) a member of an affiliated service group with any Employer as defined in Section 414(m) of the Internal Revenue Code or (e) any other entity that must be aggregated with an Employer under Section 414(o) (and Income Tax Regulations thereunder) of the Internal Revenue Code. A corporation or an unincorporated trade or business shall not be considered an Affiliated Company during any period while it does not satisfy clause (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of this definition. For purposes of this definition, a "controlled group of corporations" is a controlled group of corporations as defined in Section 1563(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (determined without regard to Sections 1563(a)(4) and (e)(3)(c) of the Internal Revenue Code). In determining whether the Annual Addition must be reduced under Section 5.6, the percentage in Section 1563(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code or in the regulations under Section 414(c) of the Internal Revenue Code shall be deemed to be more than 50% instead of at least 80%.

5

 $1.6~{\rm After}$ Tax Savings Account – a separate account maintained for each Participant reflecting his or her After Tax Savings Contributions and any other amounts allocable to or chargeable against that account.

1.7 After Tax Savings Contributions - a Participant's contributions to the Trust after June 30, 1991 under Section 3.1(b).

1.8 Annual Addition - an amount for a Plan Year equal to the sum of:

(A) the aggregate amount (including Forfeitures) credited for the Plan Year to the Participant's Employer Matching Account under Section 4.1, Employer Account under Section 4.2, and Qualified Employer Account under Section 4.3;

(B) the amount of a Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions for the Plan Year under Section 3.1(a);

(C) the amount of a Participant's After Tax Savings Contribution, for the Plan Year under Section 3.1(b).

(D) in the case of a Participant who is a Key Employee as defined in Section 21.1(b) the amount allocated for the Plan Year to a Participant under an individual medical benefit account as defined in Section 415(1)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code.

(E) in the case of a Participant who is a Key Employee (as defined in Section 21.1(b)), the amount attributable to retiree medical benefits allocated for the Plan Year to a separate account under a welfare benefit fund as defined under Section 419A(d) of the Internal Revenue Code.

1.9 Average Actual Contribution Percentage - (A) The average (rounded to the nearest one-hundredth of a percent) for a group of Participants for a Plan Year of their Actual Contribution Percentages.

- 5 -

(B) For purposes of this definition, the term "Participant" shall include any Employee who is eligible to make Before Tax Savings Contributions under Section 3.1 whether or not he or she makes such contributions.

(C) If for a Plan Year the Plan satisfies the requirements of Section 401(k), 401(a) (4) or 410(b) of the Internal Revenue Code only if aggregated with one or more Defined Contribution Plans, or if for a Plan Year one or more Defined Contribution Plans satisfies any of those requirements only if aggregated with the Plan, the Average Actual Contribution Percentage shall be determined as if all such plans were a single plan.

(D) If for a Plan Year portions of the Plan must be mandatorily disaggregated into separate "plans" in accordance with Section 401(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, the Average Actual Contribution Percentage shall be determined separately for each separate plan (except that a determination shall not be made for any separate plan benefiting collectively bargained employee).

1.10 Average Actual Deferral Percentage - (A) The average (rounded to the nearest one-hundredth of a percent) for a group of Participants for a Plan Year of their Actual Deferral Percentages.

(B) For purposes of this definition, the term "Participant" shall include any Employee who is eligible to make Before Tax Savings Contributions under Section 3.1 whether or not he or she makes such contributions.

(C) If for a Plan Year the Plan satisfies the requirements of Section 401(k), 401(a) (4) or 410(b) of the Internal Revenue Code only if aggregated with one or more Defined Contribution Plans, or if for a Plan Year one or more Defined Contribution Plans satisfies any of those requirements only if aggregated with the Plan, the Average Actual Deferral Percentage shall be determined as if all such plans were a single plan.

(D) If for a Plan Year portions of the Plan must be mandatorily disaggregated into separated "plans" in accordance with Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, the Average Actual Deferral Percentage shall be determined separately for each separate plan (but in the case of Plan Years beginning before January 1, 1993, the Average Actual Deferral Percentage shall not be determined for any separate plan benefiting collectively bargained employees).

1.11 Before Tax Savings Account - a separate account maintained for each Participant reflecting his or her Before Tax Savings Contributions and any other amounts allocable to or chargeable against that account.

1.12 Before Tax Savings Contributions - a Participant's contributions to the Trust Fund after June 30, 1991 under Section 3.1(a).

1.13 Beneficiary - a person who is entitled to receive distributions under this Plan upon or after the death of a Participant.

1.14 Board - the board of directors of the Company.

1.15 Break in Service - a Plan Year in which an Employee (or former Employee) is not credited with more than 500 Hours of Service. For purposes of determining whether there has been a Break in Service, an Employee shall be credited with Hours of Service for the period during which he or she is on Medical or Family Leave as follows: (a) the Employee shall be credited with the number of Hours of Service he or she would normally be credited with but for the absence (or if the Employee's normal Hours of Service cannot be determined, eight Hours of Service for each day of the absence), (b) the total number of Hours of Service credited for the absence shall not exceed 501 and (c) the Hours of Service credited for the absence shall be credited to the Plan Year in which the absence begins if the Employee would be prevented from incurring a Break in Service in that Plan Year solely because of the crediting of Hours of Service in accordance with clauses (a) and (b) of this definition, or in any other case, the immediately following Plan Year. Solely for purposes of determining whether there has been a Break in Service a Participant shall be credited with 45 hours for each week he or she is on Permitted Leave.

7

1.16 Company - the Gartner Group, Inc. or any successor by merger, consolidation or sale of assets.

1.17 Committee - the committee appointed by the Board under Section 13.1.

1.18 Compensation - except as otherwise provided below with respect to Employer Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions, compensation reported on an Employee's Form W-2 for that Plan Year but excluding the following amounts (even if such amounts are includable in gross income): (a) reimbursements and other expense allowances, (b) fringe benefits (cash and non-cash), such as income relative to qualified and non-qualified stock options and the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan, (c) moving expenses, (d) deferred compensation and (e) welfare benefits including any severance payments and including: (x) a Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions or before tax savings contributions to another Defined Contribution Plan which includes a cash or deferred arrangement and (y) any amounts contributed on behalf of the Employee to a cafeteria plan and not includable in income under Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code.

For purposes of Section 4.2 (Employer Contributions), Compensation shall be defined as base rate of pay.

For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 1988, but before January 1, 1994 an Employee's Compensation shall not exceed \$200,000 (or such higher amount as may be determined by the Secretary of the Treasury in accordance with Section 401(a) (17) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of living). For Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1994, an Employee's Compensation shall not exceed \$150,000 (or such higher amount as maybe determined by the Secretary of Treasury in accordance with Section 401(a) (17) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of living). For purposes of applying the 401(a) (17) limitations of the prior sentences, the family aggregation rules of Section 414(q) (6) of the Internal Revenue Code shall apply, except that the term "family" shall include only the Participant's spouse and his or her lineal descendants who have not attained age 19 before the last day of the Plan Year.

For purposes of Section 5.5, Compensation shall mean compensation as that term is used in Section 415(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

- 7 -

Additional special definitions of Compensation are provided for purposes of Section 1.3 (Actual Contribution Percentage), Section 1.4 (Actual Deferral Percentage), Section 1.33 (Highly Compensated Employee), Section 5.5 (Maximum Annual Addition), Section 21.1(b) (Key Employee) and Section 21.3 (minimum top heavy benefit).

8

1.19 Deferral Amount - the aggregate amount the Participant deferred during a calendar year under the Plan and under other plans or arrangements described in Sections 401(k), 408(k), 403(b) or 501(c)(18) of the Internal Revenue Code.

1.20 Defined Benefit Plan - an employee benefit plan, as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, that (a) is maintained by an Affiliated Company, (b) is qualified under Sections 401 and 501 of the Internal Revenue Code and (c) is not a Defined Contribution Plan.

1.21 Defined Contribution Plan - an employee benefit plan, as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, that (a) is maintained by an Affiliated Company, (b) is qualified under Sections 401 and 501 of the Internal Revenue Code and (c) provides for an individual account for each Participant and for benefits based solely on the amounts in those accounts.

1.22 Eligible Employee - an Employee of an Employer who (a) has attained age 21 and (b) either (i) is customarily employed on the basis of at least 20 Hours of Service per week or (ii) is not customarily employed on a basis of at least 20 Hours of Service per week and has been credited with at least 1,000 Hours of Service for the 12-consecutive month period beginning with the Employee's first Hour of Service or for any Plan Year beginning after his or her first Hour of Service, (c) is not covered by a collective bargaining agreement as defined in Section 410(b)(3) (A) of the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations (unless the collective bargaining agreement expressly provides for inclusion of the Employee as a Participant) and (d) is not a nonresident alien as defined in Section 410(b)(3)(C) of the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations).

Any Employee who is not an Eligible Employee on the Restatement Date and who is customarily employed on the basis of at least 20 Hours of Service per week shall become an Eligible Employee on the day he or she satisfies the conditions of clauses (a), (b)(i), (c) and (d) above. An Employee who is not an Eligible Employee on the Restatement Date and who is not customarily employed on the basis of at least 20 Hours of Service per week shall become an Eligible Employee on the day he or she satisfies the conditions of clauses (a), (c) and (d) above. An Employee who is not an Eligible Employee on the day he or she satisfies the conditions of clauses (a), (c) and (d) above and the last day of the 12-month period he satisfies the conditions of clause (b) (ii) above, whichever is later. A Rehired Employee shall be deemed to be an Eligible Employee as of the day his or her employment recommences if the Employee has satisfied the requirements of this definition by the day his or her employment recommences and if applicable his most recent period of service has not been disregarded under Section 2.5(b).

A leased employee (as defined in Section 414(n) of the Internal Revenue Code) shall not be an Eligible Employee.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, Transferred Employees (as defined in Section 6(d)(i) of the Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement between The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., McGraw-Hill Information Systems Company of Canada Limited, and McGraw-Hill International (U.K.) Limited (the "Sellers" as defined therein) and Gartner Group, Inc., Gartner Group Canada, Inc., Gartner Group U.K. Limited, DQ Research PTE Limited, and Gartner Group Acquisition Company, Inc. (the "Buyer" as defined therein), dated July 16, 1997, (the

- 8 -

"Agreement")), except part-time employees who are excluded from the Plan, shall receive credit under the Plan for all periods of employment with Sellers (as defined in the Agreement) and the Acquired Business (as defined in the Agreement) for purposes of calculating eligibility as an Eligible Employee under the Plan.

1.23 Employee - anyone who is employed by an Affiliated Company. A leased employee (as defined in Section 414(n) of the Internal Revenue Code) shall be treated as an Employee for purposes of this Plan.

9

 $1.24\ {\rm Employer}$ - the Company or any other Affiliated Company which has adopted this Plan under Article 19.

 $1.25 \ {\rm Employer} \ {\rm Account}$ – a separate account maintained for each Participant reflecting amounts attributable to Employer Contributions and amounts allocable to or chargeable against that account.

 $1.26\ {\tt Employer}\ {\tt Contributions}$ - an Employer's contributions to the Trust after June 30, 1991 under Section 4.2.

1.27 Employer Matching Account – a separate account maintained for each Participant reflecting amounts attributable to Employer Matching Contributions and amounts allocable to or chargeable against that account.

1.28 Employer Matching Contributions - an Employer's matching contributions to the Trust under Section 4.1.

 $1.29\ {\rm ERISA}$ - the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented. References to any section of ERISA shall be to that section as it may be renumbered, amended, supplemented or reenacted.

1.30 Fiscal Year - the fiscal year of the Company used for federal income tax purposes.

1.31 Five Percent Owner - an Employee who owns more than five percent of his or her Affiliated Company (within the meaning of Section 416(i)(1)(B)(i) of the Internal Revenue Code).

1.32 Forfeiture - the amount forfeited by a Participant under Section 4.6.

1.33 Highly Compensated Employee - an Employee described in Section 414(q) of the Internal Revenue Code (and regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury thereunder) for a Plan Year who either satisfies the requirements of (a) or (b) set forth below.

(A) The Employee during the "look back year" (as defined below) (1) was a Five Percent Owner, (2) received Compensation in excess of \$50,000 (adjusted by the Secretary of Treasury at the same time and in the same manner as under Section 415(d) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of living), (3) received Compensation in excess of \$50,000 (adjusted by the Secretary of Treasury at the same time and in the same manner as under Section 415(d) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of living) and was among the top 20% of Employees on the basis of Compensation for the Plan Year or (4) was at any time an

- 9 -

officer of an Affiliated Company and received Compensation greater than 50% of the amount in effect under Section 415(b)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code for the Plan Year.

10

(B) Subject to the following sentence, the employee during "determination year" (as defined below) (1) was a Five Percent Owner, (2) received Compensation in excess of \$75,000 (adjusted by the Secretary of Treasury at the same time and in the same manner as under Section 415(d) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of living), (3) received Compensation in excess of \$50,000 (adjusted by the Secretary of Treasury at the same manner as under Section 415(d) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of 10 of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of 10 of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of living), and was among the top 20% of Employees on the basis of Compensation for the Plan Year, or (4) was at any time an officer of an Affiliated Company and received Compensation greater than 50% of the amount in effect under Section 415(b) (1) (A) of the Internal Revenue Code for the Plan Year. For purposes of determining whether an Employee is described in clause (2), (3) or (4) for a Plan Year, an Employee shall only be included in this paragraph (b) if he or she is among the top 100 Employees on the basis of Compensation for the Plan Year.

For purposes of this definition, the number of officers included under paragraph (a)(4) or (b)(4) shall be limited to the lesser of (i) 50 and (ii) the greater of 3 and 10% of the number of all Employees.

The Plan Administrator may determine with respect to each Plan Year whether to make the calendar year election described in Section 1.414(q)-1 of the Income Tax Regulations.

For any Plan Year in which the Plan Administrator does not make a calendar year election (1) the "look back year" shall be the preceding Plan Year and (2) the "determination year" shall be the Plan Year. For any Plan Year in which the calendar year election is made, (1) the "look back year" shall be the calendar year ending with or within the current Plan Year and (2) the "determination year" shall be the period (if any) by which the current Plan Year extends beyond the calendar year and a calendar year election is made, then the Plan Year is the calendar year and a calendar year election is made, then the Plan Administrator may elect to define the "look back year" and "determination year" for the Plan as though no such calendar year election had been made.

For purposes of this definition, Compensation shall be compensation as defined in Section 414(q)(7) of the Internal Revenue Code.

1.34 Hour of Service - an hour for which an Employee directly or indirectly receives, or is entitled to receive, remuneration from an Affiliated Company in relation to his or her employment (which shall be credited to the Employee for the computation period in which the duties are performed), hours credited for vacation, sickness or disability and hours for which back pay has been paid, awarded or agreed to (irrespective of mitigation of damages) by an Affiliated Company (which shall be credited to an Employee with respect to the period for which remuneration is paid). In no event shall more than 501 Hours of Service be credited to an Employee on account of any single period during which the Employee performs no duties. Hours of Service shall be credited to an Employee in accordance with the records of his Affiliated Company and Department of Labor Regulations Section 2530.200b-2.

- 10 -

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, Transferred Employees (as defined in Section 6(d)(i) of the Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement between The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., McGraw-Hill Information Systems Company of Canada Limited, and McGraw-Hill International (U.K.) Limited (the "Sellers" as defined therein) and Gartner Group, Inc., Gartner Group Canada, Inc., Gartner Group U.K. Limited, DQ Research PTE Limited, and Gartner Group Acquisition Company, Inc. (the "Buyer" as defined therein), dated July 16, 1997, (the "Agreement")), except part-time employees who are excluded from the Plan, shall be credited under the Plan with all of their hours of service with Sellers (as defined in the Agreement) and the Acquired Business (as defined in the Agreement) for purposes of calculating their Hours of Service as an Employee under the Plan.

1.35 Internal Revenue Code - the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented. References to any section of the Internal Revenue Code shall be to that section as it may be renumbered, amended, supplemented or reenacted.

1.36 Investment Fund - a portion of the assets of the Trust Fund that is (a) maintained as a separate fund within the Trust Fund and (b) is equal in value to the aggregate portion of the credit balance of all Accounts invested in that Investment Fund. The Investment Funds are those set forth in Section 6.1 and any other such funds designated by the Committee under Section 6.1.

1.37 Investment Manager - anyone who (a) is granted the power to manage, acquire, or dispose of any asset of the Plan, (b) acknowledges in writing that it is a fiduciary with respect to the Plan and (c) is (1) an investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, (2) a bank (as defined in the Investment Advisers Act of 1940) or (3) an insurance company qualified under the laws of more than one state to manage the assets of employee benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA).

1.38 Limitation Year - the Plan Year.

11

1.39 Medical or Family Leave - an Employee's leave of absence from employment with an Affiliated Company because of: (a) pregnancy, birth of the Employee's child, placement of a child with the Employee in connection with adoption of the child or caring for a child immediately following birth or adoption or (b) any other reason that would entitle the Employee to take a leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. The Affiliated Company shall determine the first and last day of any Family or Medical Leave.

1.40 Merged Plan - any plan designated by the Board as a merged plan under Section 22.3.

1.41 Normal Retirement Date - a Participant's 65th birthday.

1.42 Participant - a participant in this Plan. A Participant includes an Employee who contributes to a Rollover Account.

1.43 Pension Plan Account - a separate account maintained for each Participant reflecting his or her credit balance under the Gartner Group, Inc. Pension Plan (which was merged into the Plan as of January 1, 1994) and any amounts allocable to a chargeable or against that account.

- 11 -

1.44 Permanent Disability - a disability which causes a Participant to be eligible to receive disability benefits under the Social Security Act or, in the case of a Participant who is not covered by the Social Security Act, a disability which would cause the Participant to be eligible for disability benefits under that Act had he or she been covered.

1.45 Permitted Leave - an Employee's approved leave of absence from employment with an Affiliated Company for any reason other than Termination of Employment, including but not limited to military service, illness, disability, pregnancy, educational pursuits, service as a juror, temporary employment with a government agency, or any other leave of absence approved by that Affiliated Company. In approving a Permitted Leave, an Employer's Affiliated Company shall determine the date as of which the Permitted Leave begins and ends.

1.46 Plan - the savings and investment plan as set forth in this document and as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented. The Plan is intended to qualify as a profit sharing plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

1.47 Plan Administrator - the person, as provided in Section 13.4.

1.48 Qualified Employer Account - the calendar year.

1.49 Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity - an annuity for the life of a Participant with a survivor annuity for the life of the Participant's spouse where the survivor annuity is 50% of the amount of the annuity payable during the joint lives of the Participant and the Participant's spouse and the joint and survivor annuity is actuarially equivalent in value to the Participant's Vested Interest.

 $1.50\ {\rm Recharacterized\ Contributions}$ – a Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions which are recharacterized under Section 5.4(a).

1.51 Recharacterized Contribution Account - a separate account maintained for each Participant reflecting Recharacterized Contributions and amounts allocable to or chargeable against that account.

1.52 Rehired Employee - an Employee who is rehired by an Affiliated Company after he or she has had a Termination of Employment, or Retirement. The sections which include provisions relating to a Rehired Employee are Section 1.22 (Eligible Employee), Section 1.64 (Vesting Years of Service), Section 2.5 (participation upon reemployment), Section 4.7 (crediting forfeitures upon reemployment), Section 4.8 (repayment upon reemployment) and Section 10.2 (vesting upon reemployment).

1.53 Restatement Date - January 1, 1989.

 $1.54\ {\rm Rollover}\ {\rm Account}\ -$ a separate account maintained for an Employee reflecting a Rollover Amount contributed to the Trust under Section 3.6 and amounts allocable to or chargeable against that account.

1.55 Rollover Amount - any (a) eligible rollover distribution described in Section 402(f)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to certain distributions described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code) or (b) any rollover distribution described in

- 12 -

Section 408(d)(3)(A)(ii) of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to certain distributions from an individual retirement account or an individual retirement annuity).

1.56 Savings and Investment Account - a separate account maintained for each Participant reflecting contributions to the Plan made on his or her behalf before July 1, 1991 and amounts allocable or chargeable against that account.

1.57 Termination of Employment - a Participant's termination of employment with an Affiliated Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, for any reason, including but not limited to quit or discharge and other than for Medical or Family Leave, Permitted Leave, or transfer to another Affiliated Company.

 $1.58\ {\rm Trust}$ - the trust established or maintained under the Trust Agreement.

 $1.59\ {\rm Trust}\ {\rm Agreement}\ -$ the agreement which provides for the continuation of the Trust, as that agreement may from time to time be amended or supplemented.

1.60 Trust Fund - the total of the assets held in the Trust.

1.61 Trustee - anyone serving as trustee under the Trust Agreement.

1.62 Valuation Date - each business day.

1.63 Vested Interest - an amount equal to the portion of a Participant's Accrued Benefits which is nonforfeitable under Article 10.

1.64 Vesting Years of Service - all Years of Service credited to an Employee (and any periods that are required by law to be credited to the Employee for his or her period of military service), except that the following Years of Service are disregarded:

(A) Years of Service preceding the adoption of this Plan (or, if earlier, the date of adoption of any Predecessor Plan or Merged Plan in which he or she was a Participant);

(B) Years of Service preceding at least five consecutive Breaks in Service, if the Employee has no Vested Interest (excluding a Vested Interest attributable solely to his or her Before Tax Savings Account, After Tax Savings Account, Recharacterized Contribution Account and Rollover Account) at the end of the five consecutive Breaks in Service and has a number of consecutive Breaks in Service equal to (or greater than) the number of his or her Years of Service (excluding Years of Service previously disregarded under this clause(b)) preceding the Breaks in Service;

(C) Years of Service credited to the Employee during which the Employee's Employer is not at any time an Affiliated Company or a predecessor employer within the meaning of Section 414(a) of the Internal Revenue Code; and

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, Transferred Employees (as defined in Section 6(d)(i) of the Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement between The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., McGraw-Hill Information Systems Company of Canada Limited, and McGraw-Hill International (U.K.) Limited (the "Sellers" as defined therein) and Gartner Group, Inc.,

- 13 -

Gartner Group Canada, Inc., Gartner Group U.K. Limited, DQ Research PTE Limited, and Gartner Group Acquisition Company, Inc. (the "Buyer" as defined therein), dated July 16, 1997, (the "Agreement")), except part-time employees who are excluded from the Plan, shall receive credit under the Plan for all periods of employment with Sellers (as defined in the Agreement) and the Acquired Business (as defined in the Agreement) for purposes of calculating Vesting Years of Service under the Plan.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, for purposes of calculating Vesting Years of Service under the Plan, an Employee may receive credit for all periods of employment with an acquired entity listed on Schedule A hereto, as if such periods were periods of employment with the Employer. Schedule A shall be updated from time to time by the Plan Administrator

 $1.65\ {\rm Year}$ of Service - a Plan Year for which an Employee is credited with at least 1,000 Hours of Service.

Article 2. Participation

14

2.1 Eligibility to Participate on the Restatement Date. All Employees who were Participants as of the Restatement Date shall remain such and all other Employees who are Eligible Employees on the Restatement Date shall be eligible to become Participants in accordance with Section 2.3 on that date.

2.2 Eligibility to Participate After the Restatement Date. After the Restatement Date, an Employee shall be eligible to become a Participant in accordance with Section 2.3 on the day the Participant becomes an Eligible Employee.

2.3 Enrollment (a) Subject to Section 2.3(c), an Employee may become a Participant as soon as practicable after the date he or she becomes eligible to Participate in accordance with Section 2.1 or 2.2 by enrolling within the time prescribed by the Committee.

(b) A Participant's enrollment information (in addition to any other information required by the Committee) shall (a) designate the percentage or amount of his or her Compensation the Participant would like to contribute as Before Tax Savings Contributions under Section and After Tax Savings Contributions under Sections 3.1(a) or (b)1, respectively (b) select investment options in accordance with Section 6.1 and (c) designate a Beneficiary in accordance with Section 17.1.

(c) For purposes of Sections 4.2 (Employer Contributions) and 4.3 (Qualified Employer Contributions), an Employee shall become a Participant on the first day he or she is eligible to participate in the Plan under Section 2.2.

2.4 Cessation of Participation. For purposes of this Article 2, Article 3 and Article 4, and for determining a Participant's Vesting Years of Service, a Participant shall cease to be a Participant as of the day he or she has a Termination of Employment; or dies. For all other purposes under this Plan, a Participant shall cease to be a Participant as of the day he or she incurs a Break in Service and the date that all distributions due to the Participant or his or her Beneficiary are made.

- 14 -

2.5 Participation Upon Reemployment. (a) Subject to Section $2.5\,({\rm b})\,,$ a Rehired Employee shall become a Participant in accordance with Section 2.2.

(b) In the case of a Rehired Employee who was not customarily employed on the basis of at least 20 Hours of Service per week, has no Vested Interest and has a number of Breaks in Service equal to the greater of 5 and the number of his or her previous Years of Service (excluding Years of Service previously disregarded under Section 1.64(b)), the Rehired Employee's previous service as an Employee shall be disregarded for purposes of determining when he or she again becomes an Eligible Employee. For purposes of this Section 2.5(b), an Employee who is credited with a Year of Service both in the 12-month consecutive period beginning with the Employees' first Hour of Service and the first Plan Year beginning after his or her first Hour of Service shall be credited with two Years of Service.

Article 3. Participants' Contributions

15

3.1 General. Subject to Article 5 and Section 3.3, a Participant may upon notice (at such time and in such manner as the Committee shall prescribe) make Before Tax Savings Contributions, and After Tax Savings Contributions, to the Trust of up to an aggregate of 20% (or 25% on or after January 1, 1997), in whole percentages, of his or her Compensations to be withheld as payroll deduction as follows:

(a) Before Tax Savings Contributions. A Participant may make Before Tax Savings Contributions of up to 10% (or 15% on or after January 1, 1997), in whole percentages, of his or her Compensation;

(b) After Tax Savings Contributions. A Participant may make After Tax Savings Contributions of up to 10% of his or her Compensation (in whole percentages) of his or her Compensation.

3.2 Election to Change Amount of Contributions. Upon notice to his or her Employer (at such time and in such manner as the Committee may prescribe), a Participant may:

(a) change his or her designation of the amount of his or her Before Tax Savings Contributions, and After Tax Savings Contributions, or

(b) suspend his or her Before Tax Savings Contribution, or After Tax Savings Contributions; or

(c) resume making his or her Before Tax Savings Contribution, or After Tax Savings Contributions.

Any such change under Section 3.2(a), suspension under Section 3.2(b) or resumption under 3.2(c) shall be effective as soon as practicable after reasonable notice (as determined by the Committee).

3.3 Limit on Before Tax Savings Contributions. The amount of a Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions (and any other before tax savings contributions under a Defined Contribution Plan) for a calendar year shall not exceed \$7,000 or such higher amount as may be

- 15 -

determined by the Secretary of the Treasury in accordance with Section 402(g)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of living.

16

3.4 Return of Excess Before Tax Savings Contributions. (a) No later than the April 15 immediately following the last day of a calendar year, a Participant whose Deferral Amount for that calendar year exceeds the maximum amount described in Section 402(g) of the Internal Revenue Code may request in writing that the Committee direct that a portion (or all) of his or her Before Tax Savings Contributions for that Plan Year be distributed to him or her. The Participant's request shall include a statement that if the amount requested to be distributed remained in the Plan, his or her Deferral Amount for that calendar year would exceed the maximum amount described in Section 402(g) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Committee shall direct that the amount of Before Tax Savings Contributions set forth in the Participant's request under Section 3.4(a) be distributed to the Participant by the April 15 following the date of his or her request or the close of the taxable year.

(b) A Participant whose Deferral Amount for a calendar year exceeds the maximum amount described in Section 402(g) of the Internal Revenue Code may request in writing during that calendar year that the Committee direct that a part (or all) of his or her Before Tax Savings Contributions made up through the date of his or her request be distributed to him or her. The Committee shall direct the amount of Before Tax Savings Contribution set forth in the Participant's request be distributed as soon as practicable after the date of the request.

(c) A Participant who for a calendar year has contributed Before Tax Savings Contributions (and before tax savings contributions under any other Defined Contribution Plan) in excess of the amount specified in Section 3.3 shall be deemed to have requested to receive a distribution under Section 3.4 (b).

(d) The amount of Employer Matching Contributions attributable to the Participant's returned Before Tax Savings Contributions shall be or forfeited.

(e) The amount of a Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions shall be distributed or forfeited under this Section 3.4 before any distribution or forfeiture is made under Section 5.4(a).

(f) The amount of Before Tax Savings Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions returned or forfeited under this Section 3.4 shall be adjusted as determined by the Committee for allocable gains and losses (in accordance with the Income Tax Regulations under Section 402(g) of the Internal Revenue Code) for the calendar year with respect to which the contribution was made and the period between the end of that calendar year and the date of distribution.

3.5 Payroll Deduction for Savings Contributions. Before Tax Savings Contributions and After Tax Savings Contributions under this Article 3 shall be made by payroll deduction in accordance with the rules and procedures established by the Committee. An amount of cash equal to the aggregate amount of those contributions shall be forwarded to the Trustee by the Employer as soon as practicable after each Payroll Period. The amount of contributions shall be credited to the Participant's appropriate Accounts.

- 16 -

3.6 Rollover Contributions. Upon an Employee's request, the Committee, in its discretion, may permit him or her either to contribute a Rollover Amount to the Trust or have a Rollover Amount transferred in cash to the Trust in a direct trustee to trustee transfer. If the Committee permits the contribution or transfer, the Rollover Amount shall be credited to the Employee's Rollover Account. If an Employee contributes or directs the transfer of a Rollover Amount and subsequently becomes a Participant under Section 2.1, the Plan Administrator shall continue to maintain his or her separate Rollover Account. No other contributions shall be allocated to the Rollover Account.

3.7 Trustee Transfer. The Company may in its discretion direct the Trustee to receive a trustee to trustee transfer of amounts held under a retirement plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Article 4. Employer Matching Contributions; Employer Contributions

4.1 Employer Matching Contributions. (A) For each month, a Participant shall be entitled to have credited to his or her Employer Matching Account an amount of Employer Matching Contributions equal to 100% of the amount of the Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions which is not in excess of 2% of his or her Compensation for that month. Effective as of January 1, 1993, in no event shall the amount of Employer Matching Contributions credited to a Participant's Employer Matching Account for a Plan Year under this Section 4.1(a) exceed 20% of the dollar limit for that Plan Year under Section 402(g) of the Internal Revenue Code. Effective before January 1, 1993, in no event shall the maximum amount of Employer Matching Contributions credited to a Participant's Employee Matching Account exceeds \$800.

(B) Effective as of January 1, 1994, subject to Section 4.1(d), as of the last day of each Plan Year, the Company, in its sole discretion, may determine that a Participant shall be entitled to have credited to his or her Employer Matching Account an additional amount of Employer Matching Contributions shall be equal to 100% of the Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions for that Plan Year in excess of the "Designated Percentage" (as defined in Section 4.1(c)) of his or her Compensation for that Plan Year. In no event shall the amount of Employer Matching Account under this Section 4.1(b) exceed 20% the dollar limit of Section 402(g) of the Internal Revenue Code for that or his Plan Year.

(C) For purposes of Section 4.1(b), the "Designated Percentage" shall mean a percentage designated by the Company, in its sole discretion, that is at least 2 percent and no greater than 4 percent.

(D) Only a Participant who at the close of business on the last day of the Plan Year is an Eligible Employee in the employ of an Employer or is on Permitted Leave or is an Eligible Employee and dies, has a Termination of Employment on or after his or her Normal Retirement Date or incurs a Permanent Disability during the Plan Year shall be entitled to be credited with the additional Employer Matching Contributions under Section 4.1(b) (and the term "Participant" in Section 4.1(b) refers to only those Participants).

4.2 Employer Contributions. (a) Subject to Sections $4.2\,(\rm c)$ and (d), effective as of January 1, 1993, for each Plan Year, a Participant's Employer Account shall be credited with an Employer Contribution equal to 1% of his or her Compensation.

- 17 -

(b) Subject to Sections 4.2(c) and (d), the Company may, in its discretion, contribute additional Employer Contributions to the Plan. The additional Employer Contribution shall be allocated to Participants in proportion to their Compensation.

- 18 -

(c) Only a Participant who has been credited with at least 1,000 Hours of Service (excluding Hours of Service with an Affiliated Company which is not an Employer) during the Plan Year and (1) at the close of business on the last day of the Plan Year is an Eligible Employee in the employ of an Employer or is on Permitted Leave or (2) is an Eligible Employee and dies, has a Termination of Employment on or after his or her Normal Retirement Date or incurs a Permanent Disability during the Plan Year shall be entitled under Section 4.2(b) to share in the allocation of the Employer Contribution for that Plan Year (and the term "Participant" in this Section 4.2 refers to only those Participants).

(d) This Section 4.2 shall not apply to a Participant who is employed by Gartner Group Sales, Inc. for Plan Years before January 1, 1995.

4.3 Qualified Employer Matching Contributions and Qualified Employer Contributions. The Employers shall make contributions under this Article 4 in cash.

4.4 Time for Making and Crediting Contributions by Employer. Subject to the following sentence, Employer Matching Contributions to be credited under Section 4.1 and Employer Contributions credited under Section 4.2 for a Fiscal Year shall be forwarded to the Trustee by the Employer no later than the due date for the Employer's federal income tax return for that Fiscal Year. The amount of a Participant's Employer Matching Contributions, Employer Contributions and Qualified Employer Contributions shall be credited to his or her appropriate Account as soon as practicable after they are forwarded to the Trustee.

4.5 Time for Making and Crediting Contributions by Employer. If a Participant is transferred from one Employer to another Employer during a month and he or she is entitled to be credited for that month with an amount under this Article 4, each such Employer for the month of transfer shall contribute a portion of the amount to be credited (based on its proportionate share of the Participant's total Compensation for that month.

4.6 Forfeitures. If a Participant has a Termination of Employment an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Participant's credit balance in his or her Employer Account and Employer Matching Account (as of the Valuation Date coincident with or next following the day of the Forfeiture after allocation of net value under Section 9.3) over the amount of the Participant's Vested Interest in his or her Employer Account and Employer Matching Account (as of that Valuation Date) shall be forfeited as of the earlier of: (a) the Valuation Date coincident with or next following the day distribution of his or her Vested Interest commences (or is deemed to commence under Section 4.8(a)) or (b) the day he or she has incurred a Break in Service of five consecutive years. Forfeitures shall not increase the Accrued Benefits of any Participant and, shall be used to reduce the aggregate amount to be contributed by the Employer to the Trust or defray plan expenses.

4.7 Crediting of Forfeitures upon Resuming Employment. If a Participant who had a Termination of Employment (a) resumes employment with an Employer without having least five consecutive Breaks in Service and (b) if Section 4.8 applies to the Participant, he or she repays in accordance with that Section the amount previously distributed to him or her, the amount, if any, of his or her Forfeiture under Section 4.6 shall be credited to his or her Employer Account Employer Matching Account as of the Valuation Date immediately following the day he or she resumes employment. The amount credited under this Section 4.7 shall be funded first by Forfeitures which have not been previously taken into account under this Section 4.7 or Sections

- 19 -

12.1 and, if that is insufficient, by contributions by an Employer and if that is insufficient, finally by increases or gains to the Plan.

4.8 Repayment upon Reemployment After Cash-Out. (a) If a Participant (1) receives, upon his or her Termination of Employment, a distribution of his or her entire nonforfeitable interest in his or her Accounts and the amount of that distribution is less than the amount of the aggregate credit balance in his or her Accounts and (2) he or she subsequently resumes employment with an Employer and becomes a Participant, he or she may repay to the Trust the full amount of the distribution from his or her Employer Account and Employer Matching Account Accounts provided that the repayment is made no later than the earlier of (x) five years after resumption of employment and (y) the last day of the first period of five consecutive Breaks in Service beginning after the distribution.

A Participant who has a Termination of Employment and has no nonforfeitable interest in the credit balances in his or her Accounts (excluding a Vested Interest attributable solely to his or her Before Tax Savings Account, Basic After Tax Savings Account, Recharacterized and Rollover Account) shall be deemed (i) to have received a distribution described in clause (1) of this Section 4.8(a) upon his or her Termination of Employment and (ii) to have repaid that amount upon his or her subsequent reemployment with an Employer and becoming a Participant.

(b) The repayment under Section 4.8(a) may be made as a cash contribution to the Trust which shall be credited to the Participant's Employer Account and Employer Matching Account, as applicable. Alternatively, the repayment may be made as a Rollover Amount and credited to the Participant's Rollover Account.

 $\rm 4.9$ Continuation of Employer Contributions. The Employers intend but are not obligated to continue this Plan and to make contributions under it.

Article 5. Limitations on Contributions

20

5.1 General. Section 5.3 sets forth nondiscrimination tests which limit certain contributions made for a Plan Year with respect to Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees. Section 5.5 sets forth the limitations on the Annual Additions to Participants' Accounts for a Plan Year. At any time during a Plan Year, the Committee may limit the amount of Before Tax Savings Contributions, or After Tax Savings Contributions made by Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees to comply with the nondiscrimination tests set forth in Section 5.3.

5.2 Committee Determination. The Committee shall determine for each Plan Year (a) which Participants are Highly Compensated Employees, (b) the Average Actual Deferral Percentage for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees and for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees and (c) the Average Actual Contribution Percentage for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees and for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees. The Committee's determinations shall be based on data provided to it by the Company.

5.3~Maximum Average Actual Deferral Percentage and Average Actual Contribution Percentage. (A) Subject to Section $5.3\,(b)\,,$ for any Plan Year, each of the maximum Average

- 20 -

Actual Deferral Percentage and the maximum Average Actual Contribution Percentage for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees shall be:

21

 $(1) \mbox{ if the Average Actual Deferral Percentage or the Average Actual Contribution Percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees is less than 2%, the product of 2.0 and such percentage,$

(2) if the Average Actual Deferral Percentage or the Average Actual Contribution Percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees is equal to or greater than 2%, but less than 8%, such percentage plus 2%,

(3) if the Average Actual Deferral Percentage or the Average Actual Contribution Percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees is equal to or greater than 8%, the product of 1.25 and such percentage.

(B) For any Plan Year, if any Highly Compensated Employee is eligible to make Before Tax Contributions to this Plan and is eligible to make After Tax Contributions to this Plan (or after tax contributions to another Defined Contribution Plan) or to receive an allocation of Employer Matching Contributions under this Plan (or employer matching contributions under another Defined Contribution Plan), then in no event shall the sum of the Average Actual Deferral Percentage and the "relevant average actual contribution percentage" for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees exceed the greater of the amount determined under (1) and (2):

(1) the sum of:

(a) the product of 1.25 and the Average Actual Deferral Percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees; and

(b) the lesser of (i) the sum of 2% and the relevant average actual contribution percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees or (ii) the product of 2 and the relevant average actual contribution percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees; or

(2) the sum of:

(a) the product of 1.25 and the relevant average actual contribution percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees; and

(b) the lesser of (i) the sum of 2% and the Average Actual Deferral Percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees; or (ii) the product of 2 and the Average Actual Deferral Percentage for Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees.

For purposes of this Section 5.3(b) the relevant average actual contribution percentage shall mean the Average Actual Contribution Percentage or the average actual contribution percentage under each applicable Defined Contribution Plan for the plan year of that plan beginning with or within the Plan Year.

- 21 -

5.4 Return of Highly Compensated Employees' Contributions. If for any Plan Year the Average Actual Deferral Percentage or the Average Actual Contribution Percentage for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees exceeds the maximum percentages determined under Section 5.3, amounts shall be returned, distributed or forfeited not later than the last day of the following Plan Year or recharacterized within 2-1/2 months after the close of that Plan Year as follows:

(A) First, if the Average Actual Deferral Percentage of Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees exceeds the maximum under Section 5.3(a) for a Plan Year, the Actual Deferral Percentage for such Participants shall be reduced beginning with the highest percentage until the Average Actual Deferral Percentage for such Participants does not exceed such maximum. A Participant's Actual Deferral Percentage shall be reduced by returning to him or her a specified portion (or all) of his or her Before Tax Savings Contributions for that Plan Year and by recharacterizing a specified portion (or all) of his or her Before Tax Savings Contributions as After Tax Savings Contributions, but only to the extent that the amount of Before Tax Savings Contributions so recharacterized when added to the amount of his or her After Tax Savings Contributions for the Plan Year does not exceed 10% of his or her Compensation. The amount of Before Tax Savings Contributions to be returned to the Participant or recharacterized shall be reduced by the amount of any Before Tax Savings Contributions previously returned to him or her with respect to that Plan Year under Section 3.4. The Plan Administrator shall notify Highly Compensated Employees within 2-1/2 months after the close of a Plan Year of any amounts recharacterized under this Section 5.4(a).

(b) Second, in the case of a Participant to whom Before Tax Savings Contributions are returned under clause (a), subject to the following sentence, the amount of his or her Employer Matching Contributions attributable to those Before Tax Savings Contributions shall be forfeited.

(c) Third, if the Average Actual Contribution Percentage of Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees exceeds the maximum under 5.3(a), the Actual Contribution Percentages of such Participants shall be reduced in order of Actual Contribution Percentages beginning with the highest until the Average Actual Contribution Percentage for such Participants does not exceed such maximum. A Participant's Actual Contribution Percentage shall be reduced by reducing the amount of his or her After Tax Savings Contributions and if that is insufficient reducing the amount of his or her Employer Matching Contributions. The amount of a Participant's After Tax Savings Contributions shall be reduced under this Section 5.4(c) by returning to the Participant all (or a portion) of those contributions. The amount of a Participant's Employer Matching Contributions reduced under clause (c) shall be reduced by first returning to him or her all (or a portion) of such contributions for that Plan Year which are nonforfeitable under Article 10 and, if that is insufficient, by forfeiting all (or a portion) of those contributions that are not nonforfeitable under Article 10.

(d) Fourth, if the Average Actual Deferral Percentage and relevant average actual contribution percentage (as defined in Section 5.3(b)) of Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees (each determined after reduction, if any, under Section 5.4(a) or (b) respectively, or the analogous section of the applicable Defined Contribution Plan) would result in a violation of the rule preventing the multiple use of the alternative limitation under Section 5.3(b), the Average Actual Deferral Percentage and the Average Actual Contribution Percentage of Highly Compensated Employees who are eligible to make After Tax Contributions to the Plan (or after tax contributions to another Defined Contribution Plan) or to receive an allocation of Employer

- 22 -

Matching Contributions under the Plan (or employer matching contributions under another Defined Contribution Plan) shall be reduced in the same manner as in Section 5.4.

In the case of a Participant whose Actual Deferral Percentage or Actual Contribution Percentage was determined using the family aggregation rules in Section 1.4(c) and 1.3(c), respectively, the amount of the Participant's Before Tax Contributions and After Tax Savings Contributions which are returned, recharacterized, distributed or forfeited under paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) of this Section 5.4, if any, shall be determined by first determining the amount of each type of contribution to be returned, recharacterized, distributed or forfeited for the entire family group. Then the amount of each type of contribution shall be allocated to each Participant included in the family group in proportion to the amount of his contribution of that type for the Plan Year.

The amount of a Participant's contributions which are returned, recharacterized, distributed or forfeited under paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) of this Section 5.4 shall be adjusted as determined by the Committee for allocable gains and losses (in accordance with Income Tax Regulations under Sections 401(k) and 401(m) of the Internal Revenue Code) for the Plan Year with respect to which the contributions were made and for the period between the end of that Plan Year and the date of distribution, return, recharacterization or forfeiture.

5.5 Maximum Annual Addition. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, the Annual Addition to a Participant's Accounts for any Plan Year shall be reduced to the extent that it plus the aggregate amount, if any, of the annual addition, as defined in Section 415(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, to the Participant's accounts under all other Defined Contribution Plans in which he or she was a Participant during that Plan Year exceeds the lesser of (1) \$30,000, or such higher amount as may be permitted under regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury in accordance with Section 415(c) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect increases in the cost of living, and (b) 25% of the Participant's Compensation (as defined in Section 415(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code) for that Plan Year.

5.6 Reduction of Annual Addition. If the Annual Addition to a Participant's Accounts must be reduced under Section 5.5, it shall be reduced (a) first by returning After Tax Savings Contributions included in that amount, (b) if that is insufficient, secondly by returning Before Tax Savings Contributions included in that amount, and holding any Employer Matching Contributions attributable to those Before Tax Savings Contributions in a suspense account to be allocated to the Participant in subsequent years and (d) if that is insufficient, finally by reducing the amount of his or her Employer Contributions, Employer Matching Contributions, and Qualified Employer Contributions in that order (included in that amount) and holding that amount in a suspense account to be allocated to the Participant in subsequent years. If the Participant has a Termination of Employment or a death or a Permanent Disability before all amounts in the suspense account under this Section 5.6 held on the Participant's behalf have been allocated to him or her, then such amounts shall be treated as a Forfeiture in accordance with Section 4.6 and used to reduce contributions by the Employer.

Article 6. Investment Options

2.3

6.1 Investment of Accounts. (A) Investment Funds. A Participant may direct the investment of his or her Accounts in accordance with the provisions of the Article 6 in the following Investment Funds: (1) Fidelity Growth Company Fund, (2) Fidelity Magellan Fund, (3) Fidelity Puritan Fund, (4) Fidelity Equity Fund, (5) Fidelity Money Market Trust: Retirement

- 23 -

Money Market Portfolio, (6) Fidelity OTC Portfolio, (7) Fidelity Overseas Fund, (8) Fidelity Intermediate Bond Fund, (9) Gartner Group Stock Fund (effective January 1, 1997) and any other Investment Funds designated by the Committee from time to time.

(B) Initial Election. A Participant shall designate on upon enrollment the portion (in 1% multiples) of the aggregate amounts credited to his or her Accounts, among the Investment Funds.

6.2 Change in Investment Elections. (A) Subsequent Contributions. Upon notice to the Committee (at such time and in such manner as the Committee shall prescribe), a Participant may change effective as of the Valuation Date following the notice the portion (in 1% multiples) of the aggregate amounts subsequently credited to his or her Accounts, invested among the Investment Funds.

(b) Account Balance. Upon notice to the Committee (at such time and in such manner as the Committee shall prescribe), a Participant may change effective as of Valuation Date following the notice the portion (in 1% multiples) of the aggregate credit balances in his or her Accounts to be invested among the Investment Funds.

A Participant's designation of investments under this Section 6.2 shall remain in effect until effectively changed. In the absence of an effective investment election under this Section 6.2, amounts credited to the Participant's Accounts and the credit balances in the Accounts shall be invested in Fidelity Money Market Trust: Retirement Money Market Portfolio.

Article 7. Withdrawals from Accounts

7.1 General. Upon notice to the Committee (at such time and in such manner as the Committee shall prescribe), a Participant may withdraw certain amounts from his or her Accounts. A Participant who is not an Employee may not make any withdrawals under this Article 7.

 $7.2\ {\rm Amount}$ of Withdrawal. A Participant may withdraw the amounts set forth below:

(a) An amount equal to all or a portion of the credit balance in his or her After Tax Savings Account;

(b) An amount equal to all or a portion of the credit balance in his or her Rollover Account;

(c) In the case of a Participant who has attained age 59--1/2, an amount equal to all or a portion of the credit balance in his or her Before Tax Savings Account, and Recharacterized Contribution Account; and

(d) In the case of a Participant who has suffered a financial hardship that meets the requirements of Section 7.3, an amount equal to all or a portion of the aggregate credit balances in his or her Before Tax Savings Account and Recharacterized Contribution Account. The aggregate amount of withdrawals under this clause (d) shall not exceed the sum of (i) the amount of the Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions credited to the Participant's Before Tax Savings Account and Recharacterized Contribution Account as of the date of the withdrawal, (ii) the portion of the income allocable to the Before Tax Savings Contributions which has been

- 24 -

2.4

credited to a Participant's Before Tax Savings Account and Recharacterized Account as of the last day of the Plan Year ended before July 1, 1989 and (iii) the credit balance in his or her Employer Matching Account.

2.5

7.3 Special Definition of Hardship for Withdrawal of Before Tax Savings Contributions. A Participant may make withdrawals under paragraph (d) of Section 7.2 if he or she has an immediate and heavy financial need of the type described in paragraph (a) and the distribution is necessary to satisfy the financial need as determined in accordance with paragraph (b).

(a) Immediate and Heavy Financial Need. A Participant must have at least one of the following immediate and heavy financial needs:

(1) the purchase (excluding mortgage payments) of the Participant's principal residence;

(2) unreimbursed medical expenses described in Section 213 of the Internal Revenue Code previously incurred by the Participant, his or her spouse, children or dependents or unreimbursable medical expenses described in Section 213 of the Internal Revenue Code necessary for such persons to obtain medical care;

(3) tuition expenses and related educational fees for the next twelve months of post-secondary education for the Participant or the Participant's spouse, children or dependents;

(4) rent or mortgage payments to prevent the eviction from or foreclosure on a Participant's principal residence;

(5) any other type of financial hardship designated by the Secretary of the Treasury through the publication of documents of general applicability in accordance with Section 1.401(k)-1(d)(2)(ii)(3) of the Income Tax Regulations; or

(b) Distribution Necessary to Satisfy the Financial Need. A distribution is necessary to satisfy a Participant's financial need if all of the following requirements are met:

(1) The distribution is not in excess of the amount of the immediate and heavy financial need of the Participant. The amount of an immediate and heavy financial need may include any amounts needed to pay any federal, state or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the distribution.

(2) The Participant has withdrawn all amounts available under Section 7.2 (other than hardship withdrawals under Section 7.2(d)) and has taken all nontaxable loans available under Article 8;

(3) The Participant may not make any Before Tax Savings or After Tax Savings Contributions, under the Plan or any elective contributions or employee contributions to any other plan maintained by an Affiliated Company for a period of 12 months beginning on the first day of the month following the receipt of a hardship withdrawal.

- 25 -

(4) For the Participant's taxable year immediately following the taxable year of the withdrawal, the Participant may not make Before Tax Savings Contributions to the Plan (or elective contributions to any other plan maintained by an Affiliated Company) in an aggregate amount greater than the excess of (i) the applicable dollar amount under Section 402(g) of the Internal Revenue Code for that next taxable year over (ii) the amount of the Participant's Before Tax Savings Contributions (and other elective contributions) for the taxable year of the hardship withdrawal.

7.4 Payment Made by Trustee. The Committee shall direct the Trustee to make payment to the Participant in cash of the amount to be withdrawn; the payment shall be made as soon as practicable after receipt of the Participant's notice. The Plan Administrator shall reduce the credit balance (pro rata from each of the relevant investment funds) in the appropriate Accounts of the Participant to reflect the withdrawal.

Article 8. Loans

8.01 Loans. Upon application made by a Participant, the Committee may authorize the Trustee to make a loan to such Participant subject to the provisions of Section 8.02 through 8.04 hereof. The outstanding balance of all loans made to any such Participant shall at no time exceed the lesser of (a) fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000) reduced by the excess (if any) of the highest outstanding balance of loans from the Plan to the Participant during the one year period ending on the day before the date on which such loan is made over the outstanding balance of loans from the Plan to the Participant on the date on which such loan was made; or (b) one-half of the Participant's Vested Account.

8.02 Term and Conditions of Loan. (a) Any loan made shall be required to be repaid within one, two, three, four, or five years; provided, however that any loan which is used to acquire any dwelling unit which within a reasonable time is to be used (determined at the time the loan is made) as the principal residence of the Participant may have such longer term as the Employer may determine but not longer than 15 years. All loans shall be evidenced by a promissory note executed in favor of the Plan by the Participant bearing interest at a rate to be determined by the Committee, which shall be reasonable at the time of the application considering the purpose of the loan and the rate being charged by representative financial institutions for similar loans in the local area and for the time period, which rate shall remain constant for the term of the loan. Such loan shall provide for level amortization over the term of the loan with payments to be made not less frequently than quarterly. Such loan shall be secured by such adequate collateral as the Committee shall determine, provided that if the Participant's Account is to serve as collateral, no more than one-half of such Account may be so used. Such loan may be repaid by payroll deduction. The Participant's loan application must (a) include his or her consent to the Trustee's execution on its security in the event of a default and (b) his or her spouse's consent in accordance with Section 11.11 to the use of his or her Vested Interest as security for the loan which consent must be given during the 90-day period ending on the date on which the loan is to be secured. The grant of a security interest under this Section 8.02 shall not be a violation of Section 16.1 of the Plan.

(b) Additional terms and conditions of a loan may be set forth in a separate written document or documents as permitted by regulations issued by the Department of Labor. All such documents shall automatically be made a part of the Plan as if they were set forth herein in their entirety.

- 26 -

8.03 Loans are Discretionary. The Committee shall have sole and exclusive discretion to determine under uniform, nondiscriminatory and consistent rules whether or not any such loan shall be made and, except as more specifically provided herein, the terms and conditions of any such loan. The Committee may under uniform and nondiscriminatory rules determine the minimum amount of a loan which may be made at any time; any loan fees or costs to be deducted from the loan proceeds and paid to any service provider to administer the loan or to the Employer to reimburse the Employer for the costs paid by Employer to administer a Participant's loan; the frequency with which loans may be made; the repayment terms of any loan; the form of any promissory note or application to be used in any requests for loans; and any other administrative requirements the Committee deems to be appropriate. Said rules shall be part of the separate written document(s) referred to in Section 8.02(b) herein.

8.04 Loans to be Made from Participant's Account. Any loan to a Participant (including the payment of any fees and costs related thereto chargeable by the Plan to the Participant) shall not be made from the Trust generally, but, unless the Participant instructs otherwise, shall instead reduce the account balances credited to the Participant's Accounts in proportion to the amount of the credit balances in those accounts in the following order:

(A)	From	his	or	her	Employer Account;
(B)	From	his	or	her	Employer Matching Account;
(C)	From	his	or	her	After Tax Savings Account;
(D)	From	his	or	her	Rollover Account;
(E)	From	his	or	her	Before Tax Savings Account;
(F)	From	his	or	her	Recharacterized Contribution Account;
(G)	From	his	or	her	Pension Account; and
(H)	From	his	or	her	Savings and Investment Account.

Unless the Participant instructs otherwise, loan amounts shall reduce pro rata the Investment Funds in which the Participant's Accounts are invested. A Participant's payments of principal or interest on a loan shall be applied to credit the Participant's Accounts in the reverse order that those Accounts were reduced and shall be invested in accordance with his or her investment elections in effect for contributions under Article 6.

Article 9. Valuation, Allocation and Accounting

9.1 Valuation of Assets. As soon as practicable after each Valuation Date, the Trustee shall make a separate determination of the net value of the assets of the Investment Funds as of that Valuation Date . In making the determination of net value, (a) all income accrued since the previous Valuation Date shall be included, (b) Before Tax Savings Contributions, After Tax Savings Contributions, Employer Contributions, Employer Matching Contributions, Rollover Amounts and loan repayments received since the preceding Valuation Date shall be excluded, (c) investment changes under Article 6, withdrawals under Article 7, loans under Article 8 and (d) distributions under Article 11 since the preceding Valuation Date shall be taken into account.

9.2 Method of Valuing Non-Cash Assets. In determining the net value of the assets of the Trust Fund, the value of any asset other than cash (including Employer Stock) shall be determined in accordance with the customary method of valuation employed by the Trustee or, if no one method is customarily employed by the Trustee, as follows:

- 27 -

(A) any security listed on a national securities exchange shall be valued at its closing price on the Valuation Date and any security traded only in the over-the-counter market shall be valued at the mean of the closing bid and asked prices for the security on the Valuation Date (or if it was not traded or quoted on the Valuation Date, on the most recent day prior to the Valuation Date on which it was traded or quoted), as reported in the Wall Street Journal (or if not reported in the Wall Street Journal, as reported by any recognized broker or dealer regularly trading in that security); and

(B) any other assets of the Trust Fund shall be valued at their fair market value as determined by the Trustee, as of the Valuation Date. The Trustee's determination of the value of any asset shall be conclusive and binding upon all Employers, the Committee and all Participants and Beneficiaries. In making its determination of value, the Trustee may rely upon the opinion of any appraiser or other expert that it believes appropriate to consult.

9.3 Allocation of Net Value. As soon as practicable after each Valuation Date, the Plan Administrator shall allocate the total net value of each of Investment Funds and as determined under Section 9.2, among the Accounts of all Participants as of that date in the respective proportions that the credit balance in each Account that is invested in each of those funds as of the immediately preceding Valuation Date bears to the sum of the credit balances in all Accounts invested in that fund as of that Valuation Date. This allocation shall be made for each Valuation Date (a) before crediting the Before Tax Savings Contributions, After Tax Savings Contributions, Employer Contributions, Employer Matching Contributions, Qualified Employer Contributions, Rollover Amounts and loan repayments made since the preceding Valuation Date and (b) after taking into account investment changes under Article 6, any withdrawals under Article 7, loans under Article 8 and distributions under Article 11 since the preceding Valuation Date.

9.4 Participant Transfers. The following rules shall apply in the case of a Participant who is transferred from an Employer to another Affiliated Company.

(A) If a Participant transfers from the employ of one Employer to another, the credit balance then in each of his or her accounts (after all adjustments in accounts under Section 9.1 have been made for the month of transfer) shall be transferred to accounts for him or her as an Employee of his or her new Employer, and the Participant shall be deemed an Employee of his or her new Employer for all purposes.

(B) If a Participant is transferred to an Affiliated Company which has not adopted this Plan, he or she shall no longer be permitted to make Before Tax Savings Contributions, and After Tax Savings Contributions, nor will he or she be credited with Employer Matching Contributions, Employer Contributions, or Qualified Employer Contributions. The credit balance in his or her Accounts shall remain in those Accounts and he or she shall continue to receive an allocation of the net value of the Trust Fund under Section 9.1 and his or her rights and obligations with respect to his or her Accounts shall continue to be governed by the provisions of the Plan and Trust Agreement.

- 28 -

9.5 Employee's Accounts. The Plan Administrator shall maintain a separate Before Tax Savings Account, After Tax Savings Account, Employer Matching Account, Employer Account, Recharacterized Contribution Account, Pension Plan Account, Savings and Investment Account and Rollover Account. All distributions and payments to a Participant or his or her Beneficiary shall be charged against the appropriate Accounts of that Participant.

Article 10. Vesting

10.1 Employer Account and Pension Plan Account. (a) Subject to Section 10.1(b), if a Participant has been credited with one or more Vesting Years of Service, a portion of the Participant's credit balances in his or her Employer Account and Pension Plan Account shall be nonforfeitable. The nonforfeitable portion shall be an amount equal to a Participant's credit balances in his or her Employer Account and Pension Account multiplied by a percentage based upon the number of the Participant's Vesting Years of Service as follows:

Number of the Participant's Vesting	Nonforfeitable Percentage		
Years of Service	2		
0	0%		
1	20%		
2	40%		
3	60%		
4	80%		
5	100% or more		

(b) The credit balances in a Participant's Employer Account and Pension Plan Account shall become nonforfeitable upon the earliest (1) the Participant's Normal Retirement Date, if he or she is an Employee at that time, (2) the Participant's incurrence of a Permanent Disability while an Employee and (3) the Participant's death while an Employee.

10.2 Vesting Upon Reemployment. The nonforfeitable portion of a Participant's Employer Account and Pension Plan Account shall be determined under this Section 10.2 instead of Section 10.1 if the Participant (1) receives, upon his or her Termination of Employment, a distribution from his or her Employer Account and Pension Plan Account in an amount less than the credit balance in those Accounts and (2) subsequently resumes employment with an Employer without having a at least five consecutive Breaks in Service. In that event, the nonforfeitable portion of the Participant's Employer Account shall be an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (i) the sum of the credit balance in each of the Participant's Employer Account and Pension Account (including the amount credited under Section 4.7) plus the amount previously distributed to him or her upon Termination of Employment, multiplied by the nonforfeitable percentage determined in

- 29 -

accordance with Section 10.1 over (ii) the amount of the distribution upon Termination of Employment.

10.3 Other Accounts. The credit balances in each of the Participant's Before Tax Savings Account, After Tax Savings Account, Employer Matching Account, Qualified Employer Account, Recharacterized Contribution Account, and Rollover Account shall be nonforfeitable at all times.

Article 11. Distributions

30

11.1 Forms of Distribution. Subject to Sections 11.2, 11.3 and 11.6, a Participant shall be entitled to elect to receive distribution of his or her Vested Interest (determined under Section 11.6) by one of the following methods:

(A) Single distribution of the full amount payable;

(B) Installments - monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, annual installments over a period not exceeding the Participant's life expectancy or subject to Section 11.12(b), the joint life expectancy of the Participant and his Beneficiary. The amount of each installment shall equal the amount of the Participant's unpaid Vested Interest (determined as of the Valuation Date preceding the payment) divided by the number of remaining payments to be made.

- (C) Single life annuity with no ancillary features.
- (D) Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity.
- (E) A joint and 100% or 75% survivor annuity with his or her spouse;

A Participant's election under this Section 11.1 (which includes the designation of a contingent Beneficiary) must be made during the 90-day period preceding the Participant's Annuity Starting Date. This election may not be changed after the Participant's Annuity Starting Date. In the absence of an effective election under this Section 11.1 a Participant shall be deemed to have elected a distribution in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. In the case of a Participant who is not married, a single life annuity shall be deemed a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity.

Subject to Sections 11.3 and 11.9, a Beneficiary's distribution shall be in the form of a lump sum.

11.2 Vested Interest Not in Excess of 3,500. If the value of a Participant's Vested Interest (determined under Section 11.6) does not exceed 33,500, the method of distribution as to that Participant shall be as a single payment of the full amount payable.

11.3 Direct Transfer - Subject to Section 11.7 and the rules set forth below, a Participant who receives distribution of his or her Vested Interest in a form which qualifies as an eligible rollover distribution (as defined in Section 401(a) (31) of the Internal Revenue Code) may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Committee, to have all or any portion of that distribution paid directly to any eligible retirement plan (as defined in Section 402(c) (8) (B) of the Internal Revenue Code.) The Committee shall notify the Participant of this option no earlier than 30 days and no more than 90 days before distribution of benefits is to begin under Section 11.4.

- 30 -

This option shall apply only to a Participant, his or her surviving spouse, or his or her former spouse who is entitled to a distribution under the Plan as an alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order as defined in Section 414(p) of the Internal Revenue Code. The following rules shall apply with respect to direct transfers under this Section 11.3.

(A) A Participant who is reasonably expected to have an eligible rollover distribution during the calendar year that totals less than 200 may not elect a direct transfer under this Section 11.3.

(B) If a Participant elects a direct transfer of a portion of an eligible rollover distribution, that portion must be equal to at least \$500.

(C) A Participant may not divide his or her eligible rollover distribution into separate distributions to be transferred to two or more eligible retirement plans.

(D) A Participant's election to make or not make a direct rollover with respect to one payments in a series of periodic payments which qualify as an eligible rollover distribution shall apply to all subsequent payment in the series unless the Participant elects otherwise.

(E) If a Participant does not make an election with respect to an eligible rollover distribution before distribution of his benefit is to begin, he or she will be treated as not having elected a direct transfer under this Section 11.3.

11.4 Timing of Distribution. (A) Distribution of a Participant's Vested Interest (determined under Section 11.6) shall begin on the earliest of:

 $(1) \mbox{ as soon as practicable after the day of the} \\ \mbox{Participant has a Termination of Employment on or after his or her Normal Retirement Date;}$

(2) as soon as practicable after the Participant's Termination of Employment before attaining age 65 if the value of his Vested Interest does not exceed \$3,500;

(3) as soon as practicable after the Participant's Normal Retirement Date, if the Participant has a Termination of Employment prior to that time, unless the Participant elects under Section 11.5 to commence to receive distribution at a different time;

(4) effective for all Participants (other than those who attained age 70-1/2 before January 1, 1988 and are not Five Percent Owners during the Plan Year ending with or within the calendar year in which they attain age 66-1/2 or any subsequent Plan Year), the first day of April immediately following the Plan Year in which he or she attains age 70-1/2, but no earlier than April 1, 1990. For purposes of this subsection, a Participant shall be deemed to be a Five Percent Owner if he or she was a Five Percent Owner at any time during the five Plan Year period ending in the calendar year in which he or she attains age 70-1/2; or

(5) subject to Section 11.9(c), as soon as practicable after the Participant's death.

Unless the Participant elects, in no event shall a Participant receive distribution of his or her Vested Interest later than 60 days after the end of the Plan Year in which occurs the later of (1) the

- 31 -

Participant's Retirement, (2) the date the Participant attains age 65 or (3) the tenth anniversary of the Participant's participation in the Plan.

32

11.5 Election to Receive Distribution Before Normal Retirement Date. A Participant who has a Termination of Employment before (a) his Normal Retirement Date and (b) has a Vested Interest (determined under Section 11.6) which exceeds 33,500 in value may elect (at such time and in such manner as the Committee shall prescribe) to have distribution of his Vested Interest commence as of a date before his Normal Retirement Date. In that event, distribution of the Participant's Vested Interest shall commence as soon as practicable following the election.

11.6 Valuation of Vested Interest. Except as otherwise provided in the following sentence, for purposes of Sections 11.1, 11.4, 11.5 11.7 and 11.9, the amount of a Participant's Vested Interest shall be valued as of the Valuation Date of the distribution. For purposes of determining whether a Participant's Vested Interest does not exceed \$3,500 under Sections 11.2, 11.4, 11.5, 11.7 and 11.9, a Participant's Vested Interest shall be valued as of the Valuation Date immediately following the event that entitles him or her to a distribution under Section 11.3.

11.7 Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. If the value of the Vested Interest of a married Participant exceeds \$3,500, he or she shall receive distribution of his benefits in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity, unless within the 90 day period immediately before the Participant's Annuity Starting Date the Participant has elected not to receive distribution of benefits in this form of annuity and his spouse has consented to that election under Section 11.11. Both the Participant's waiver and the spouse's consent must state the particular optional form of benefit to be distributed and any nonspouse Beneficiary or class of nonspouse Beneficiaries. Alternatively the spouse's consent may permit the Participant to elect any optional form of benefit available under the Plan and designate any contingent Beneficiary. Such a general consent must acknowledge that the spouse has voluntarily relinquished rights to limit consent to a specific form of benefit or Beneficiaries or both. Any such election may be revoked at any time before distribution of benefits commences and, once revoked, may be made again.

11.8 Notification of Right to Waive Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. Within the period beginning no earlier than 90 days before the Participant's Annuity Starting Date and no later than 30 days before his or her Annuity Starting Date, the Retirement Committee shall provide each Participant (whether or not married) with notice (in the manner provided in regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury) of the Participant's right to elect to waive his or her right to receive distribution of his or her Vested Interest in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. The notice shall contain an explanation in non-technical language of (a) the terms and conditions of the election and its effects upon the Participant's benefit (in terms of dollars per annuity payment), (b) the requirement that the Participant's spouse must consent to the election in accordance with Section 11.11, (c) the Participant's right to revoke the election in the manner provided in regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury and (d) a general description of the eligibility conditions and other features of the optional forms of benefit under the Plan and sufficient information to explain the relative values of these optional forms of benefits. For purposes of this Section 11.8, a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity for an unmarried Participant shall be a single life annuity with no ancillary benefits.

11.9 Death Benefit. (A) Married Participants. The following provisions shall apply in the case a Participant who has been married for at least one year upon his death before distribution of his or her benefits begin:

- 32 -

(1) His or her spouse shall be entitled to receive a benefit equal in value to 50% of the Participant's Vested Interest unless he or she has previously elected that his or her spouse not receive this benefit and his or her spouse has consented to that election in accordance with Section 11.11. The benefit under this Section 11.9(a) (1) shall be distributed to the Participant's spouse at the time specified in Section 11.9(c) and shall be paid in the form of a single life annuity for the life of the Participant's spouse unless (a) the Participant's spouse elects to receive the benefit in a single cash payment under Section 11.1 or (b) the value of the benefit is \$3,500 or less and then it will be distributed as a single cash payment.

(2) The portion of a Participant's Vested Interest not distributed to his spouse under this Section 11.9 shall be distributed to the Participant's Beneficiary in a single cash payment at the time specified in Section 11.4.

(3) The period during which a Participant may elect not to have his spouse receive the 50% death benefit described in this Section 11.9(a) (1) shall begin on the first day of the Plan Year in which he attains age 35 (or, if later within a reasonable period after the individual becomes a Participant) and shall end on the day of his death. A Participant may elect not to have his or her spouse receive the death benefit described in this Section 11.9 before the Participant attains age 35, except that such a waiver shall become invalid on the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age 35. In order for a waiver to be effective after the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age 35, it must be made again.

(B) Unmarried Participants. If a Participant is not married for at least one year before distribution of his benefits begin, upon his death, his or her Beneficiary shall receive a death benefit equal to his Vested Interest in the form of a single cash payment.

(C) Timing of Distributions. If the Participant's spouse is the Beneficiary of the 50% death benefit described in the first Section of Section 11.9(a), the death benefit shall be distributed to the Participant's spouse as soon as practicable after the Participant's Normal Retirement Date had the Participant lived, unless the spouse elects (at such time and in such manner as the Committee shall prescribed) an earlier distribution. In that event, distribution of the death benefit shall commence as soon as practicable after the spouse's election. All other death benefits shall be distributed as soon as practicable after the Participant's death in accordance with Section 11.4(a)(5).

11.10 Notification of Right to Waive Spousal Death Benefit. The Plan Administrator shall give each Participant written notice of his right to waive his right to have his spouse receive the death benefit under Section 11.9(a)(1). The notice shall be given both (a) in the case of an individual who becomes a Participant before age 35, within the period beginning one year before the individual becomes a Participant and ending one year after the individual becomes a Participant and (b) within the period beginning on the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age 32 and ending on the last day of the Plan Year in which he attains age 35 (or (i) if the Employee becomes a Participant after the first day of the Plan Year in which he attains age 32, within the period beginning one year before the individual becomes a Participant and ending one year after the individual becomes a Participant or (ii) if the Participant has a Termination of Employment before he attains age 35, within the one year period beginning one year before the Participant's Termination of Employment and ending one year after the Participant's Termination of Employment). The notice, which shall be given in the manner

- 33 -

provided in regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury, shall contain an explanation of the terms and conditions of the election and its effects upon the Participant's benefit (in terms of dollars per annuity payment), the requirement that the Participant's spouse must consent to the election in accordance with Section 11.11 and the Participant's right to revoke the election in the manner provided in regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury.

34

11.11 Spousal Consent. A Participant's waiver of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity described in Section 11.7 or the spouse's death benefit under Section 11.9(a)(1) shall be valid only if the Participant's spouse executes a written consent to that election acknowledging the effect of the election and the consent is witnessed by a notary public or Plan official. The spouse's consent is not required if (a) the Participant establishes that the spouse's consent cannot be obtained because the Participant does not have a spouse, the Participant's spouse cannot be located or for such other circumstances as may be provided in regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury, (b) the Participant is legally separated from the spouse or (c) the Participant has been abandoned by his or her spouse (within the meaning of local law) and the Participant has a court order to that effect. A Participant's waiver of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity or spouse's death benefit shall only be effective with respect to the spouse who consents to it as provided in this Section 11.11.

11.12 Minimum Distribution. (A) In the case of a Participant who remains an Employee after he attains age 70--1/2 (other than a Participant who attains age 70--1/2 before January 1, 1988 and is not a Five Percent Owner during the Plan Year ending with or within which he attains age 66--1/2 or any subsequent Plan Year), distribution of his Accrued Benefit shall begin no later than the April 1 immediately following the calendar year in which he attains age 70--1/2. With respect to each calendar year beginning with the calendar year the Participant attains age 70--1/2 and ending with the calendar year before the calendar year in which the Participant has a Termination of Employment, he or she shall receive the distribution of the "minimum distribution amount" described in paragraph (b) of this Section 11.12. Upon the Participant's Termination of Employment his or her Accrued Benefit shall be distributed to him or her in accordance with Section 11.1.

(B) The "minimum distribution amount" for each calendar year shall be equal to the quotient of the Participant's Accrued Benefit (determined as of the last day of the calendar year preceding the calendar year with respect to which the distribution is being made) divided by the applicable life expectancy. The applicable life expectancy shall be no greater than the joint life expectancy of the Participant and his Beneficiary. The life expectancy of the Participant (and his Beneficiary) shall be determined using the Participant's (and the Beneficiary's) attained age as of the Participant's most recent birthday (and the Beneficiary's most recent birthday) in the year in which the Participant attains age 70--1/2. The life expectancy of the Participant and his spouse shall not be recalculated annually after it has been determined under the previous sentence.

(C) Any distribution under this Plan shall satisfy the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirements under Section 401(a)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code.

(D) If a Participant dies after distribution of his or her benefits has commenced, the remaining portion, if any, of his or her benefit shall be distributed to his or her Beneficiary at least as rapidly as it would have been distributed under the method of distribution in effect on the day of his death.

- 34 -

(E) If a Participant dies before distribution of benefits to him or her has commenced, his or her entire benefit shall be distributed to his Beneficiary within five years of the Participant's death or, if later, in the case of a Beneficiary who is the Participant's spouse, the December 31 of the year the Participant would have attained age 70-1/2. Alternatively, if the distribution of benefits commences as of the December 31 of the year after the Participant's death (or, if later, in the case of a Beneficiary who is the Participant's spouse, the December 31 of the year the Participant would have attained age 70-1/2), then the benefit may be distributed over a period not extending beyond the life expectancy of the Beneficiary.

11.13 Annuities. Any distribution of benefits in the form of an annuity shall be made by the purchase of a nontransferable immediate or deferred payment annuity contract from an insurance company selected by the Committee.

 $$11.14\ {\rm Form}$ of Distribution. Distribution under this Article 11 shall be made in cash or property.

11.15 Release. Upon any distribution, the Trustee, the Committee or any Employer may require execution of a receipt and release, in form and substance satisfactory to it, of all claims under this Plan.

11.16 Incapacity. If, in the judgment of the Committee, any person is legally, physically or mentally incapable of personally receiving and executing a receipt for any distribution or payment due him or her under this Plan, the distribution or payment may be made to the person's guardian or other legal representative (or if none is known to the Committee, to any other person or institution who has custody of the person) and that distribution or payment shall constitute a full discharge of any obligation with respect to the amount paid or distributed.

11.17 Lost Participant. Neither the Committee nor the Trustee shall be obligated to search for or ascertain the whereabouts of any Participant or Beneficiary (other than to write to the Participant at his or her last mailing address shown in the Committee's records). If it is determined that a Participant or Beneficiary cannot be located, the Participant's or Beneficiary's Vested Interest shall be forfeited as of the Valuation Date immediately following that determination, but shall be reinstated (without interest) upon the Participant's or Beneficiary's claim for the Vested Interest before that Vested Interest escheats under applicable state law. If a benefit is required to be reinstated it will be done within sixty days after the close of the Plan Year in which the Participant or Beneficiary makes a claim for the benefit.

Article 12. Funding

12.1 Funding Policy. Each Employer shall contribute cash or property to the Trust in an amount equal to the aggregate amount credited under Article 3 and the aggregate amount credited under Article 4. If, with respect to an Employer, the amount of Forfeitures for any Plan Year exceeds its share of the Employer Matching Contributions, Employer Contributions, and Plan expenses (and allocations under Section 4.7) for that Plan Year, the excess shall be treated under this Section 12.1 as Forfeitures arising in succeeding Plan Years.

12.2 Establishment and Review of Funding Policy. The Committee shall establish a funding policy and method consistent with the objectives of the Plan and the requirements of Title I of ERISA. The Committee shall review the funding policy and method at least annually. In establishing and reviewing the funding policy and method, the Board shall try to determine the Plan's short-term and long-term objectives and financial needs, taking into account the need for liquidity to pay benefits and the need for investment growth.

12.3 Employer Contributions Irrevocable. Subject to Section 12.4, any contribution made by an Employer shall be irrevocable and shall be held and disposed of by the Trustee solely in accordance with the provisions of this Plan and the Trust Agreement.

12.4 Exceptions to Irrevocability. Each contribution made by an Employer or an Employee shall be deemed to be conditioned upon the deductibility of the contribution under Section 404 of the Internal Revenue Code. If the deduction of all or part of any contribution is disallowed, it shall, to the extent disallowed, be repaid to the Employer within one year after the date of disallowance. A contribution also will be repaid to an Employer, within one year after the date made, to the extent it was made in error because of a mistake of fact.

Article 13. Administration of Plan

13.1 The Board. The Board shall appoint the members of the Committee, the Trustee and any Investment Manager, and shall be responsible for the establishment of the Trust and the amendment and termination of this Plan and the Trust Agreement.

13.2 The Committee. This Plan shall be administered by the Committee, which shall have the responsibilities and duties and powers delegated to it in this Plan and any responsibilities and duties under this Plan which are not specifically delegated to anyone else.

13.3 The Trustee. The Trustee (who shall be appointed by the Committee) shall have exclusive authority and discretion to manage and control the Trust Fund except to the extent that authority to manage the assets held by the Trust is delegated by the Board to an Investment Manager. The Trustee may designate agents or others to carry out certain of the administrative responsibilities in connection with management of the Trust.

13.4 The Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator (who shall be appointed by the Committee) shall be responsible for (a) the maintenance of all records of Participants and Beneficiaries necessary for the administration of this Plan and (b) the taking of any action necessary to meet the reporting and disclosure requirements imposed by ERISA. The Committee may authorize the Plan Administrator to designate agents to carry out certain of his or her responsibilities.

13.5 Decisions and Actions of the Committee. The Committee from time to time may establish rules for the administration of this Plan. The Committee shall have the sole discretion to make decisions and take any other actions with respect to questions arising in connection with the Plan, including the construction of the Plan and the Trust Agreement. The decisions and actions of the Committee as to any questions arising in connection with the Plan, including the construction and interpretation of the Plan and the Trust Agreement, shall be final and binding upon all Participants and Beneficiaries.

13.6 Investment Responsibilities of the Committee. The Committee shall have the responsibility and authority to determine the objectives, policies and guidelines for the investment of the Trust Fund and each investment fund established as a part thereof, including, but not by way

- 36 -

of limitation, the establishment of additional investment funds or the consolidation of one or more of the existing funds. The Committee shall have the authority to select, appoint, monitor or discharge Investment Managers or mutual funds managed by an investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, or contracts issued by insurance companies, for purposes of investing the assets of the Trust Fund and each investment fund established as a part thereof.

13.7 Membership of the Committee. The Committee shall consist of at least 2. Each person appointed a member of the Committee shall file his or her acceptance of the appointment with the secretary of the Company. Any member of the Committee may resign by delivering his or her written resignation to the secretary of the Company; the resignation shall become effective when received by the secretary of the Company (or at any other time agreed upon by the member and the Board). The Board may remove any member of the Committee at any time, with or without cause, upon notice to the member being removed. Notice of the appointment, resignation, or removal of a member of the Committee shall be given by the Board to the Trustee and to the members of the Committee.

13.8 Officers and Meetings of the Committee. The Committee shall elect a chairman and a secretary (who need not be a member of the Committee) and shall hold meetings upon such notice and at such times and places as it may from time to time determine. Notice of a meeting need not be given to any member of the Committee who submits a signed waiver of notice before or after the meeting or who attends the meeting.

13.9 Procedures of the Committee. A majority of the total number of members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The vote of a majority of the members of the Committee present at the time of a vote, if a quorum is present at the time, shall be required for action by the Committee. Resolutions may be adopted or other action taken without a meeting upon the written consent of all members of the Committee. Any person dealing with the Committee, or its secretary, as to any act or determination of the Committee.

13.10 Subcommittee, Advisors and Agents of The Committee. The Committee may (a) appoint subcommittees with such powers as the Committee shall determine advisable, (b) authorize one or more of its members or an agent to execute any instrument, and (c) utilize the services of Employees and engage accountants, agents, clerks, legal counsel, medical advisers, and professional consultants (any of whom may also be serving an Employer or an Affiliated Company) to assist in the administration of this Plan or to render advice with regard to any responsibility under the Plan.

13.11 Liability of the Committee. The members of the Committee and the Employers shall have no liability with respect to any action or omission made by them in good faith nor from any action made in reliance upon (a) the action of the Trustee, (b) the advice or opinion of any accountant, legal counsel, medical adviser or other professional consultant or (c) any resolutions of the Board certified by the secretary or assistant secretary of the Company.

13.12 Allocation of Plan Expenses. All expenses relating to the Plan prior to the termination of the Plan shall be borne ratably by the Employers to the extent not paid from the Trust. Brokerage commissions, transfer taxes and other charges or expenses in connection with the purchase or sale of securities shall be included in the cost of the securities. Notwithstanding

- 37 -

the foregoing, the Committee may charge an application fee in connection with a loan under Article 8. Any Employee who serves as a Trustee, Plan Administrator, or member of the Committee shall receive no compensation for such service. The Company may require any Trustee, Plan Administrator or member of the Committee to furnish a fidelity bond satisfactory to the Company; the premium for any fidelity bond shall be an expense of the Plan, except to the extent paid by an Affiliated Company.

13.13 Service in More than One Capacity. Any person or group of persons may service the Plan in more than one capacity, including service both as Plan Administrator and as a member of the Committee.

Article 14. Management of Trust Fund

14.1 The Trust Fund. The Trust Fund shall be held in trust by the Trustee appointed from time to time (before or after termination of this Plan) by the Committee pursuant to the Trust Agreement. The Trustee shall have the powers specified in the Trust Agreement.

14.2 Exclusive Benefit. The Trust Fund shall be used in accordance with the provisions of this Plan and for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits for Participants and their Beneficiaries and for defraying reasonable expenses of the Plan and of the Trust. The Trustee shall cause the Trust Fund to consist of the Investment Funds.

14.3 Liability. The Company, the Trustee, and the Committee shall have no liability with respect to a Participant's investment designation under Section 6.1.

14.4 Trust Fund. Subject to Section 14.1, the Trust Fund may be invested in accordance with the Trust Agreement.

14.5 Trust Agreement. The Trust Agreement shall be a part of this Plan and any rights or benefits under this Plan shall be subject to all the terms and provisions of the Trust Agreement.

Article 15. Benefit Claims Procedure

15.1 Claim for Benefits. Any claim for benefits under this Plan shall be made in writing to the Committee. If a claim for benefits is wholly or partially denied, the Committee shall so notify the Participant or Beneficiary within 90 days after receipt of the claim. The notice of denial shall be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the Participant or Beneficiary and shall contain (a) the specific reason or reasons for denial of the claim, (b) specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the denial is based, (c) a description of any additional material or information necessary to perfect the claim together with an explanation of why such material or information is necessary and (d) an explanation of the claims review procedure.

15.2 Review of Claim. Within 60 days after the receipt by the Participant or Beneficiary of notice of denial of a claim (or at such later time as may be reasonable in view of the nature of the benefit subject to the claim and other circumstances), the Participant or Beneficiary may (a) file a request with the Committee that it conduct a full and fair review of the denial of the claim, (b) review pertinent documents and (c) submit questions and comments to the Committee in writing.

- 38 -

15.3 Decision After Review. Within 60 days after the receipt of a request for review under Section 15.2, the Committee shall deliver to the Participant or Beneficiary a written decision with respect to the claim, except that if there are special circumstances (such as the need to hold a hearing) which require more time for processing, the 60-day period shall be extended to 120 days upon notice to the Participant or Beneficiary to that effect. The decision shall be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the Participant or Beneficiary and shall (a) include the specific reason or reasons for the decision and (b) contain a specific reference to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the decision is based.

Article 16. Non-Alienation of Benefits

16.1 Non-Alienation. Subject to Section 16.2, Accrued Benefits under or interests in this Plan shall not be assignable or subject to alienation, hypothecation, garnishment, attachment, execution or levy of any kind. Any action in violation of this provision shall be void.

16.2 Qualified Domestic Relations Orders. Section 16.1 shall not apply to the creation, assignment or recognition of a right to the Accrued Benefits of a Participant pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order (as defined in Section 414(p) of the Internal Revenue Code). The Committee shall establish reasonable procedures for determining whether a domestic relations order is a qualified domestic relations order and for administering distributions under a qualified domestic relations order.

Article 17. Designation of Beneficiary

17.1 Designation of Beneficiary. Subject to Sections 11.7 and 11.9, Participants may designate a Beneficiary in the form and manner prescribed by the Committee. The Committee, in its discretion, may specify conditions or other provisions with respect to the designation of a Beneficiary. Any designation of a Beneficiary may be revoked by filing a later designation or revocation. In the absence of an effective designation of a Beneficiary by a Participant or upon the death of all Beneficiaries, a Participant's Accrued Benefit shall be paid to the Participant's estate.

17.2 Effective Date of Designation. Any designation or revocation of a designation of a Beneficiary shall become effective when actually received by the Committee but shall not affect any distribution previously made pursuant to a prior designation.

Article 18. Amendment

18.1 Amendment. The Board may amend this Plan at any time but no amendment may (a) entitle an Employer to receive any part of the Trust Fund, (b) substantially increase the duties or liabilities of the Trustee without its prior written consent, or (c) have the effect of reducing the accrued benefit (within the meaning of Section 411(d) (6) of the Internal Revenue Code) of anyone who is a Participant on the date the amendment is adopted or becomes effective, whichever is later.

18.2 Amendment to Vesting Provisions. If the vesting provisions set forth in Article 10 are amended, any Participant who, as of the effective date of the amendment has been credited with three or more Years of Service in the aggregate, may irrevocably elect to have his nonforfeitable interest computed without regard to the amendment. Notice of the amendment and the availability of the election shall be given to each such Participant, and the election may be

- 39 -

exercised by the Participant by notice to the Committee within 60 days after the later of (a) his or her receipt of the notice, (b) the day the amendment is adopted or (c) the effective date of the amendment.

18.3 Amendment to Maintain Qualified Status. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 18.1, the Board, in its discretion, may make any modifications or amendments to the Plan, retroactively or prospectively, which it deems appropriate to establish or maintain the Plan and the Trust Agreement as a qualified employee's plan and trust under Sections 401 and 501 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Article 19. Adoption and Withdrawal from Plan by Affiliated Company

40

19.1 Adoption by Affiliated Company. Any Affiliated Company, whether or not presently existing, may, with the approval of the Board, adopt this Plan by proper corporate actions.

19.2 Withdrawal by Employer. Any Employer may at any time withdraw from the Plan upon giving the Board, the Committee and the Trustee at least 30 days notice of its intention to withdraw. The Board in its discretion may direct that any Employer withdraw from the Plan.

19.3 Segregation of Assets Upon Withdrawal. Upon the withdrawal of an Employer under Section 19.2, the Trustee shall in accordance with the directions of the Committee segregate a share of the assets in the Trust Fund equal in value to the total Accrued Benefits of Participants who are Employees of that Employer.

19.4 Applicability. The withdrawal provisions of this Article 19 shall be applicable only if the withdrawing Employer continues to cover its Participants and eligible Employees in a comparable plan and trust qualified under Sections 401 and 501 of the Internal Revenue Code. Otherwise, the termination provisions of this Plan shall apply with respect to the withdrawing Employer.

Article 20. Termination; Merger, Consolidation or Transfer of Assets

20.1 Full Vesting Upon Plan Termination. Upon the termination or partial termination (as that term is defined for purposes of Section 411(d)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code) of this Plan or upon the complete discontinuation of contributions by an Employer, the entire Accrued Benefits as of the date of termination in the Employer Accounts and Employer Matching Accounts of the affected Participants shall be nonforfeitable.

20.2 The Committee and Trustee. If the entire Plan is terminated, the Committee shall continue to function and may fill any vacancies which may occur in its own membership (if the Board fails to do so) until the Trustee has rendered its final account and that account has been approved (in the manner provided in the Trust Agreement).

20.3 Merger, Consolidation or Transfer of Assets. Neither this Plan nor the Trust may be merged or consolidated with, nor may its assets or liabilities be transferred to any other plan or trust unless each Participant would receive a benefit immediately after the merger, consolidation or transfer, if the Plan then terminated, which is equal to or greater than the benefit he or she would have been entitled to receive immediately before the merger, consolidation, or transfer if this Plan had then been terminated.

- 40 -

20.4 Restrictions on Distribution upon Plan Termination. Upon the termination of this Plan with respect to an Employer, (a) in no event shall a Participant receive a distribution of the portion of his or her Vested Interest attributable to Before Tax Savings Contributions [Qualified Employer Contributions and Recharacterized unless there is no successor plan established or maintained (as defined for purposes of Section 401(k)(10)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations) and (b) in no event shall a Participant receive a distribution of his or her Vested Interest without his or her consent before his or her attainment of age 65 (or, if earlier, death) unless there is no other Defined Contribution Plan maintained by the Employer or the value of that Vested Interest does not exceed \$3,500.

Article 21. Top Heavy Provisions

 $21.1 \ \mbox{Definitions}.$ The following definitions apply for purposes of this Article 21:

(A) Determination Date - with respect to any plan year of the Plan, a Defined Benefit Plan or a Defined Contribution Plan, the last day of the preceding plan year (or in the case of the first plan year of a plan, the last day of that plan year).

(B) Key Employee - an Employee (or former Employee) who at any time during a Plan Year or any of the preceding four Plan Years is (1) an officer of his or her Employer with Compensation greater than 50% of the amount in effect under Section 415(b)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code on the last day of the Plan Year, (2) one of the ten Employees with Compensation greater than the amount in effect under Section 415(c)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code on the last day of the Plan Year and owning the largest percentage (in excess of one half of one percent) interest in value of an Affiliated Company, (3) an owner of more than five percent of his or her Employer and (d) an owner of more than one percent of his or her Employer with Compensation in excess of \$150,000. The determination of whether an Employee is a Key Employee shall be made in accordance with Section 416(i) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Beneficiary of a Key Employee shall be treated as a Key Employee.

For purposes of this definition Compensation shall be compensation as defined in Section 414(q)(7) of the Internal Revenue Code.

(C) Permissive Aggregation Group of Plans - a group of employee benefit plans including a Required Aggregation Group of Plans and any other Defined Benefit Plans or Defined Contribution Plans which when considered as a group meet the requirements of Sections 401(a) (4) and 410 of the Internal Revenue Code.

(D) Required Aggregation Group of Plans - a group of employee benefit plans including each Defined Contribution Plan (1) in which any Key Employee is or was a Participant or (2) which enables a plan described in clause (1) to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(4) or Section 410 of the Internal Revenue Code.

- 41 -

(E) Top Heavy Fraction - (1) with respect to the Plan, a fraction for a Plan Year, the numerator of which is the aggregate of the credit balances under the Plan as of the applicable Determination Date of all Participants who are Key Employees and the denominator of which is the aggregate of the credit balances under the Plan as of the applicable Determination Date of all Participants or (2) with respect to a Required Aggregation Group of Plans or a Permissive Aggregation Group of Plans, a fraction (A) the numerator of which is the sum of (i) the aggregate of the present values of the accrued benefits as of the applicable Determination Date of all participants who are Key Employees under all Defined Benefit Plans included in that group and (ii) the aggregate credit balances as of the applicable Determination Date in the accounts of all participants who are Key Employees under all Defined Contribution Plans included in the group and (B) the denominator of which is the sum of (i) the aggregate of the present values of the accrued benefits as of the applicable Determination Date of all participants under all Defined Benefit Plans included in the group and (ii) the aggregate credit balances as of the applicable Determination Date in the accounts of all participants under all Defined Contribution Plans included in the group.

42

In computing a Top Heavy Fraction for a Plan Year, the following rules shall apply: (I) the present value of accrued benefits as of a Determination Date under each Defined Benefit Plan and the aggregate account balances as of a Determination Date under each Defined Contribution Plan shall be increased by the aggregate distributions made from that plan to participants during the five year period ending on the Determination Date, (II) the accrued benefit under any Defined Benefit Plan and the account balances under any Defined Contribution Plan of a Participant who has not performed services for an Employer at any time during the five-year period ending on the Determination Date shall be disregarded, (III) the present value of accrued benefits under a Defined Benefit Plan as of a Determination Date and the account balances under a Defined Contribution Plan shall be determined as of that plan's valuation date which occurs during the 12-month period ending on the Determination Date, (IV) in the case of a Required Aggregation Group of Plans or a Permissive Aggregation Group of Plans, the Determination Date of each plan included in the group shall be the Determination Date that occurs in the same calendar year as the Determination Date of the Plan, (V) in the case of a Required Aggregation Group of Plans or a Permissive Aggregation Group of Plans, in determining the present value of accrued benefits the actuarial assumptions set forth in any Defined Benefit adopted by an Employer shall be used for all Defined Benefit Plans, and (VI) in the case of a Required Aggregation Group of Plans or Permissive Aggregation Group of Plans, the accrued benefits under all Defined Benefit Plan(s) of Participants other than Key Employees shall be determined based upon the method used uniformly for accrual purposes for all Defined Benefit Plans but if there is no uniform method, based upon the benefit accrual rate which does not exceed the slowest accrual rate permitted under the fractional accrual rule of Section 411(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code.

(F) Top Heavy Plan - the Plan for any Plan Year if the Top Heavy Fraction for that Plan Year exceeds 60% for (a) if the Plan is not part of a Required Aggregation Group of Plans, the Plan, (b) if the Plan is part of a Required Aggregation Group of Plans, but not a Permissive Aggregation Group of Plans, the Required Aggregation Group of Plans or (c) if the Plan is part of a Permissive Aggregation Group of Plans and a Required Aggregation Group of Plans, the Permissive Aggregation Group of Plans.

21.2 When Top Heavy Provisions Apply. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, the provisions of this Article 21 shall apply with respect to any Plan Year for which the Plan is a Top Heavy Plan.

- 42 -

21.3 Minimum Benefit. For any Plan Year for which the Plan is a Top Heavy Plan, a Participant who is employed on the last day of the Plan Year shall be entitled to have his or her Employer Account credited with an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (a) the lesser of (1) 3%, of his or her Compensation for that Plan Year and (2) a percentage of his or her Compensation equal to the greatest percentage of Compensation credited as a contribution to any Key Employee for that Plan Year, taking into account the amount of contributions credited to that Key Employee's Before Tax Savings Account, Employer Matching Account, Employer Account, and Recharacterized Contribution Account over (b) the sum, if any, of the amount credited to the Participant's Employer Matching Account, and Employer Account. Employer Matching Contributions taken into account with respect to a Participant under clause (b) of this Section 21.3 shall not be taken into account for purposes of determining the Participant's Actual Contribution Percentage (Section 1.3). For purposes of this Section 21.3, Compensation shall be defined as in Section 414(q)(7) of the Internal Revenue Code.

21.4 Vesting. For any Plan Year the Plan is a Top Heavy Plan, the nonforfeitable portion of the Accrued Benefit of a Participant who is credited with at least one Hour of Service during that Plan Year shall be the percentage determined under Article 10.

21.5 Change From Top Heavy Vesting. If the Plan is a Top Heavy Plan for a Plan Year and ceases to be a Top Heavy Plan for the subsequent Plan Year, the change in the vesting provision under this Section 21.5 to the vesting provision under Article 10 shall for purposes of Section 18.2 be treated as an amendment of the vesting provisions of the Plan.

Article 22. Miscellaneous

22.1 No Employment Rights. Nothing in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between an Affiliated Company and any Employee, nor as a guarantee of any Employee to be continued in the employment of an Affiliated Company, nor as a limitation on the right of an Affiliated Company to discharge any of its Employees with or without cause or with or without notice at the option of the Affiliated Company.

22.2 Discretion. Any discretionary acts under this Plan by an Employer or by the Committee shall be uniform and applicable to all persons similarly situated. No discretionary act shall be taken which constitutes prohibited discrimination under the provisions of Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code or prohibited reduction of accrued benefits under Section 411 of the Internal Revenue Code.

22.3 Merged Plan. The Company may for purposes of this Plan (a) designate any employee pension benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) as a Merged Plan and (b) give credit for participation in a Merged Plan to the extent the Board determines desirable. The Board shall notify the Committee of the designation of any Merged Plan, and of credit to be given for participation in the Merged Plan.

22.4 No Interest in Trust Fund. Irrespective of the amount of a Participant's Accrued Benefits, neither the Participant nor his or her Beneficiary or any other person shall have any interest or right to any of the assets of the Trust Fund except as and to the extent expressly provided in this Plan.

- 43 -

22.5 Governing Law. The provisions of this Plan shall be governed by and construed and administered in accordance with ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code, and, where not inconsistent, the laws of the State in which the Company is incorporated.

22.6 Participant Information. Each Participant shall notify the Committee of (a) his or her mailing address and each change of mailing address, (b) the Participant's, the Participant's Beneficiary's and, if applicable, the Participant's spouse's date of birth, and (c) his or her marital status and any change of his or her marital status and (d) any other information required by the Committee. The information provided by the Participant under this Section 22.6 shall be binding upon the Participant and the Participant's Beneficiary for all purposes of the Plan.

22.7 Severability. If any provision of this Plan is held illegal or invalid for any reason, the other provisions of this Plan shall not be affected.

22.8 Notices. Any notice, request, election, designation, revocation or other communication under this Plan shall be in writing and shall be considered given when delivered personally or mailed by registered mail, return receipt requested, except that any communication furnished to all Participants shall be considered given when delivered personally or mailed by first class mail.

 $$22.9\ {\rm Headings}$. The headings in this Plan are for convenience of reference and shall not be given substantive effect.$

Dated: October 13, 1998

GARTNER GROUP, INC.

By /s/ John Halligan Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Attest:

/s/ Cathy Satz Assistant Secretary

LIST OF ACQUIRED ENTITIES:

Relational Courseware, Inc.	7/95
Dataquest, Incorporated	11/95
J3 Learning Corporation	7/96
Charles Singer	7/96
Productivity Management Group (PMG)	8/96
Computer & Communication Information Group, Inc. (Datapro)	7/97
Interpose, Inc.	1/98
International Computer Security Association, Inc. (ICSA)	3/98
The Research Board, Inc.	7/98
Vision Events International, Inc.	9/98
Mentis Corporation	10/98
Griggs-Anderson Research	10/98
G2R	1/99
Inteco Corporation	3/99

- 45 -